

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Juvenile Probation Officers' Perceptions of the Effectiveness of Evidence-Based Programs Among Gang-Involved Youth

Shacourtney Quantia Jackson *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Shacourtney Jackson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

> Review Committee Dr. Michael Knight, Committee Chairperson, Criminal Justice Faculty

Dr. Tony Gaskew, Committee Member, Criminal Justice Faculty

Dr. Gregory Koehle, University Reviewer, Criminal Justice Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Juvenile Probation Officers' Perceptions of the Effectiveness of Evidence-Based

Programs Among Gang-Involved Youth

by

Shacourtney Jackson

MA, Saint Leo University, Walden University, 2021

BS, Clayton State University, 2010

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Criminal Justice

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

Gang activity has become widespread in the United States, totaling over 1.5 million juvenile gang members. Often, male African American youth join gangs at higher rates than any other race or ethnicity, and these juveniles are likely to reoffend. To reduce recidivism in Georgia, policy and lawmakers have attempted juvenile justice reform, but gang activity and recidivism among this population continues to persist. This qualitative study was conducted to determine probation officers' perceptions of evidence-based programs effectiveness in reducing recidivism rates for gang-involved youth. Data were collected through interviews with 10 juvenile probation officers with at least 3 years of experience working with gang-involved youth in metro Atlanta counties in the state of Georgia. Data were analyzed and the following themes emerged: (a) having a positive mindset improves effective strategies with the evidence-based program when there are positive support systems and proper resources for gang-involved youth; (b) effective communication increases the effectiveness of evidence-based programs and reduces recidivism rates; (c) financial barriers can impact a youth's ability to succeed in evidence-based programs; (d) barriers that result in ineffective strategies to reduce recidivism for gang-involved youth; and (e) reasons that increase recidivism and take juvenile gang members down a path to prison. The findings from this research have potential implications for positive social change by increasing approaches to understanding the effectiveness of evidence-based programs in reducing recidivism among gang-involved youth, which could lead to more effective means of addressing this population.

Juvenile Probation Officers' Perceptions of Effectiveness of Evidence-Based Programs

Among Gang-Involved Youth

by

Shacourtney Jackson

MA, Saint Leo University, Walden University, 2012, 2021

BS, Clayton State University, 2010

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Criminal Justice

Walden University

August 2023

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to those who inspired me to never give up and to continue to achieve my goals and aspirations. To my family, closest friends, and my best friend, you have been in my corner and have supported me. It is because of you that I have come this far. With every day that goes by, knowing that I have support and guidance from you has been what mattered the most on this journey, and I am forever grateful.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank everyone who has been there for me on this journey to completing my dissertation. I am profoundly grateful and would like to dedicate this to you. I would also like to thank the Lord above because if it were not for him, I would have never made it this far.

To my grandmother, Dorothy Jackson, you have been an asset in my life. I love you and appreciate you assisting me with my daughter when I had papers to submit and could not be a parent at the time because of pressing deadlines. You have truly been there for me as I obtained my associate degree until finally obtaining my Ph.D. Thank you for helping me be the person I have become, and I will try to instill the same in my daughter.

To my mother, Rosetta McCallister, thank you for allowing me to vent when assignments were due and being that shoulder to cry on. I love you and thank you for always providing the encouragement needed and assuring me that I would be okay no matter what obstacles I faced. Thank you for taking the time and pulling me from writing to take me to lunch, dinner, or to enjoy life. Thank you for your wisdom that motivated me to get this far.

To my aunt, Trina Toomer, my rock and my ace, words cannot express how much you mean to me and how far I have come because of your wisdom and laughter that got me through trying times when writing. I am genuinely thankful to have someone in my life like you. Whenever I had doubts and was under stress, you guided me to the light and gave me the strength to press forward. To my dad, Troy Jackson Sr., and my brother Troy Jackson Jr., the leading men in my life, thank you both for being there for me when I needed it. Whenever I needed anything, you did not hesitate to assist. During those trying times, I knew I could count on you. I am forever grateful to have you both in my life.

To my best friend, Delquis Olivo, words cannot explain how much you mean to me and how you have helped me on this journey. Thank you for motivating me and pushing me to become the person I am today because, without you, I know I would not have come this far in my life. I can depend on you for anything, and I am so grateful for you and everything you have instilled in me to succeed. I am so thankful that I will forever have you in my corner because the sky is the limit with you.

I want to thank Joy C. Dandridge, who has been there for me since obtaining our first master's degree at Saint Leo University. You have stuck by my side since, and I am so grateful to call you one of my closest friends. You are the reason I even thought about obtaining a Ph.D. because you pushed me to move forward. I just want to say thank you for always being there for me and motivating me to take this journey.

To my fantastic daughter Kaleah Jackson, words cannot explain how much I love you. Everything that I do, I do it for you. You are my motivation and inspiration to keep looking ahead. You have taught me the true meaning of motherhood, and I have loved every minute since the day you were born.

Lastly, thank you to my friends Rocky Ed Simmons, Yulonda Rhodes, and Shanice Moore Webster. The weekly text messages, check-ins, and phone calls assisted me through this process. I also want to send a special thanks to Dr. Haynes and Dr. Vargo, who helped me tremendously. Lastly, to my dissertation committee Dr. Michael Knight and Dr. Tony Gaskew, thank you for your feedback, guiding me through this process, and being understanding of my frustration at times. This process, which felt like forever, has been a long journey; I made it with these individuals guiding and supporting me. I am forever indebted to you all, and I genuinely thank you for your love and support.

List of Tables	v
List of Figures	'i
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Questions	6
Theoretical Framework for the Study	6
Nature of the Study	8
Definitions	9
Assumptions1	1
Scope and Delimitation	2
Limitations1	3
Significance of the Study14	4
Summary and Transition	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review10	6
Introduction10	6
Literature Search Strategy1	7
Theoretical Foundation	8
Literature Review	9

Table of Contents

Juvenile Justice/ Court History	19
Georgia Legislation History	20
Five Domains of Gang Membership	24
Ethnicity and Gang Involvement	24
Peer Groups and Gang Involvement	25
Juvenile Gang Members and Lack of Resources and Socioeconomic Status	27
School and Gang Life	28
Lack of Parental Involvement and Gang Affiliated Youth	29
Evidence-Based Programs	30
Multisystemic Therapy	31
Gang Resistance Education and Training	32
Cognitive Behavioral Therapy	32
Summary and Transition	33
Chapter 3: Research Method	35
Introduction	35
Research Design and Rational	35
Role of the Researcher	37
Methodology	
Participant Selection	
Instrumentation	41
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	41
Data Analysis Plan	42

Issues of Trustworthiness	.43
Credibility	.43
Transferability	.44
Confirmability	.44
Dependability	.45
Ethical Procedures	.45
Summary	.46
Chapter 4: Results	.47
Introduction	.47
Setting 48	
Demographics	.49
Data Analysis	.50
Coding50	
Code Dictionary	.53
Evidence of Trustworthiness	.62
Credibility	.62
Transferability	.62
Confirmability	.63
Dependability	.63
Results 64	
Theme 1	.64
Theme 2	.67

69
71
73
77
78
86
87
89
91

List of Tables

Table 1. Interview Schedule	40
Table 2. Participants' Years of Experience	49
Table 3. Codes Used to Analyze Data, Grounded Theory Method	52

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Themes		61
-----------	--------	--	----

Introduction

Gang activity has become widespread in the United States. Studies suggest there are over 1.5 million juvenile gang members in the United States (Walker & Caesar, 2020). As gang activity increases, safety concerns have become an issue for law enforcement officers and the community. In addition, gang activity has increased in the media's attention and has become a major concern at federal, state, and local levels (Walters, 2019).

Gangs originated in the United States in the 1800s in New York City (Howell, 2019). Over the course of several years, gangs began to emerge in communities that had limited resources and low socioeconomic status. Many would call these areas the slums or the projects. Not until the 1990s was gang activity reported throughout the United States (Howell, 2019).

At a young age, juveniles are subjected to their environment, which may lead to a youth joining a gang due to lack of parenting, lack of education, inability to find adequate resources, and lack of skills to seek and maintain employment. Although gang members are subject to abide by the law like every other U.S. citizen, they continue to be mischievous and noncompliant with the rules set forth by policy and lawmakers. Often, male youth joining a gang are of African American or Latino descent.

In Georgia, African American men account for 35% of all arrests. Richard (2020) states, "African American males in the state of Georgia are likely to reoffend, engage in criminal behavior, and become recidivist" (p. 7). To reduce recidivism rates for offenders, in 2013, Georgia policy and lawmakers developed House Bill 242, or juvenile justice reform. The juvenile justice reform changed the courts and the juvenile justice system by allowing judges to have more discretion to provide more services (mental health, counseling, and community outreach programs) for delinquent youth. This bill was developed to combat gang-related crimes, provide more community evidence-based programs for public safety, and deter harsh punishment for youth who committed status offenses: curfew violation, truancy, and runaway. In addition, the juvenile justice reform created risk assessments and mental health screenings to reduce the number of juveniles going into detention facilities (Cavanaugh et al., 2022).

Although drastic changes were made to increase community evidence-based programs and develop new assessment tools, in 2020, Governor Brian Kemp introduced *get-tough* policies and anti-gang laws to combat gang violence. Kemp's objective is to create new felony laws to prosecute gang members by longer prison sentences, enhancing the fight against human trafficking and increasing the death penalty for gang-related murders (Darnell, 2020). Although Kemp has sought to get-tough policies and harsher punishments for gang-related crimes, advocates still seek evidence-based programs. An evidence-based program is a skill-based approach that has increased positive outcomes for delinquent and gang-involved youth.

Background

Gang activity has become widespread in all 50 states since the 1990s. Studies suggest that states with larger populations have more gang violence. An estimated 1.5 million juvenile gang members are in the United States (Walker & Cesar, 2020).

According to Howell (2019), "Nearly four-fifths of all known gang members were Black or Hispanic, largely owning to racial/ethnic housing discrimination in many cities" (p. 630). Although Governor Kemp and lawmakers have created more get-tough policies, African American male recidivism and arrests continue to increase at much higher rates than any other race (Combs, 2020; Darnell, 2020; Richard, 2020). Because of this continued increase, questions have arisen on whether the department of juvenile justice is doing a sufficient job with juvenile offenders. Thus, to divert youth from going into detention, diversion programs and evidence-based programs were created. Combs (2020) suggested that practitioners and scholars have long debated whether punishment or treatment works to reduce juvenile crime (p.11). Evidence-based programs would assist youth in a manner that improves moral thinking and reduces violent behavior. The Evident Change, formally known as the National Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD), has stressed that juveniles should not be treated as adults. In fact, treating them through rehabilitation is in the best interest of the child as opposed to harsher and stricter punishment (Russell & Manske, 2017).

Despite the implementation of evidence-based programs, juvenile gang crime continues to escalate. Research suggests that gang members have the most serious and violent offenses compared to other delinquent youth. According to Walker and Cesar (2020), "These youth typically have the offenses of felony assaults, felony thefts, weapons offenses, and alcohol/drug use offenses" (p. 315). When adolescents join gangs, their criminal behavior typically escalates throughout adulthood. Although the juvenile justice system is designed to treat or provide for the best interests of juveniles, other law enforcement entities, law and policy makers, task forces, and gang intelligence units have had to assist with this ongoing gang problem to protect the community and reduce future victimizations. Research shows that youth of color typically receive harsher punishment than youth of other ethnicities, and research has shown discrimination when prosecuting these gang-affiliated youth in the courtroom. Often, these individuals are perceived as dangerous and blameworthy (Walker & Cesar, 2020).

Problem Statement

Juvenile gangs have been a complicated social problem for policy and lawmakers, the juvenile justice system, and law enforcement entities in the state of Georgia. Despite the increase in recidivism and gang crime, Georgia has developed a get-tough anti-gang statute to combat this ongoing issue. In this development, the juvenile justice system's mission remains the same: to provide rehabilitation to juvenile offenders. Despite the rise in recidivism, evidence-based programs continue to be used to detour youth from gang violence. Advocates have been encouraging evidence-based programs, but Governor Kemp and lawmakers have shifted their funding toward law enforcement and toughening penalties for gang members (Bluestein, 2021). Georgia has a high recidivism rate for gang members. Perhaps law and policymakers should direct more funding toward improving or providing more evidence-based programs directed toward gangs, which could assist with reducing recidivism. To fill a gap in the literature, I conducted this study to focus on the perceptions of juvenile probation officers regarding whether they believe evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for gang-involved youth.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this research was to better understand the perceptions of juvenile probation officers regarding evidence-based programs and whether they believe these programs reduce gang activity. Qualitative research helps in providing context that may allow for better targeting of future quantitative outcome research. This study could impact future qualitative research, considering the lack of literature regarding evidencebased programs for gangs and the lack of evidence-based programs available to this population. According to Thornberry et al. (2018):

Although evidence-based programs for a variety of other problems do exist, no known programs meet standards of demonstrated effectiveness. However, modifying evidence-based programs to gang-involved youth is a reasonable strategy for developing a wider array of effective programs to respond to the challenge of street gangs. (p. 954)

In inner city Atlanta counties, there is a lack of evidence-based programs that target the gang population. Most evidence-based programs only target delinquency, but youth who are gang involved have higher rates of violence and are more likely to carry weapons and more likely to be victimized (Buchanan, 2020). Low socioeconomic areas where these programs are needed the most are where these programs are available the least. Interviewing juvenile probation officers and gaining their perceptions of evidencebased programs could help generate future studies regarding efficacy and outcomes, which could lead to more programs available for this population. Qualitative and quantitative research are used to enhance understanding and knowledge through a lens of different parameters. Quantitative research is focused on statistics, and credibility is determined by replicability; qualitative research depends on transferability, suggesting the findings of the research rely on the context or population being studied (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021). Although quantitative studies are used more frequently, replication is becoming less successful (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021, p. 367). Tuval-Mashiach (2021) suggested that qualitative work is needed to learn from informants rather than to control them (p. 369). Using juvenile probation officer participants for this study provides them a voice and the opportunity to share knowledge regarding their experiences. Furthermore, this helps to address a gap in the literature because there are limited studies for this population.

Research Questions

RQ: How do juvenile probation officers perceive the effectiveness of evidencebased programs in reducing recidivism rates for African American young men between ages 12 and 21 who are gang involved in the state of Georgia?

Theoretical Framework for the Study

The theoretical frameworks used for this study were the social disorganization theory and the general strain theory. According to both theories, there is significant evidence leading to criminogenic behavior, including gang involvement, low socioeconomic status, and lack of resources, coping skills, education, and social support from family and the community (Errol et al., 2021; Thaxton & Agnew, 2018). Both theories interpret gang affiliation as caused by contextual factors versus intrapersonal factors. Lack of resources weaken social controls, creating social disorganization and an increase in delinquency and gang activity for juvenile offenders. Without proper treatment and rehabilitation, this violence can lead to a higher likelihood of recidivism.

Social disorganization theory, first established by Shaw and Mckay (1942, 1969), was later updated by Robert J. Sampson (Errol et al., 2021). This theory suggests that criminogenic behavior is influenced by disadvantaged neighborhoods and a lack of social influence. Social disorganization theory can be defined as a means for understanding how without family and community structure, crime often increases, creating a reduction in social control (Errol et al., 2021). Errol et al. (2021) suggested that individuals who grow up in single-parent homes are at an increased risk for crime and delinquency. The presence of a biological father increased the chances for a reduction in crime by 0.3% (Errol et al., p. 521). Furthermore, variables such as ethnic diversity, socioeconomic status, and social relationships can influence criminal activity. Many protective factors, such as family and church, are stripped from youth who reside in low socioeconomic, high crime environments. Many unconventional behaviors are introduced such as crime and deviancy. Many of these areas create a continuous cycle of unconventional values, and gang involvement repeats across generations (Piscitelli, 2019).

General strain theory, developed by Robert Agnew (1992) has become the leading theory of crime (Thaxton & Agnew, 2018). This theory focuses on crime being committed because of life stressors and emotional factors, including depression, anxiety, and disappointment (Barbaieri et al., 2019). Other life stressors may involve the death of a loved one, inability to accomplish a goal, anger, or mental health issues. Some juveniles can push through and surround themselves with positive stimuli such as having a mentor, gainful employment, and being involved in prosocial activities. Other juveniles turn to negative coping mechanisms such as delinquency and gang involvement. These coping strategies are negative stimuli and involve engaging in negative relationships and a life of crime. Teijon-Alcala and Birkbeck (2019) stated, "Engaging in negative relationships with others involves a failure to achieve goals, removal of positive stimuli, and subsequently criminal behavior" (p. 412). Negative pressure or strains that lead to a juvenile's basic needs not being met can result in a life of deviant behavior, which can lead to time spent in juvenile detention centers, jails, prisons, and even death. However, interventions such as evidence-based programs may be more proactive at helping juvenile offenders cope in early stages to reduce criminal behavior.

Nature of the Study

To address the research question, I considered conducting a quantitative study, but the specific research design I used was qualitative. Qualitative research is continuing to grow in the criminal justice field. According to Copes (2020), "the percentage in qualitative research in criminal justice has increased from 3.7% to 9.8% depending on how qualitative methods are defined" (p. 1060). Qualitative research was used for this topic because I wanted to look deeper into the problem as it relates to effective and persistent evidence-based programs and gangs. Furthermore, this method would assist with discovering new thoughts and ideas from individual views, insights, and results (see Copes et al., 2020). The qualitative research method leads researchers down a clear path and sets the stage for the topic being studied. The qualitative research design uses unstructured and structured practices for data collection. For this study, I conducted individual interviews with juvenile probation officers about their subjective experiences. Qualitative research allowed for the active participation of respondents and provided the opportunity to probe socially desirable responses.

Grounded theory was used to collect data. This approach, developed by Glaser and Strauss (1990) was later updated in Chicago schools by Strauss and Corbin. This theory is the most used qualitative method because it applies validity, reliability, and generalizability (Patton, 2012). Furthermore, this theory is used to study individuals and larger societal processes, which is appropriate in this case because my focus was gangs and evidence-based programs in the state of Georgia. For this reason, I selected grounded theory to address the perspectives of juvenile probation officers in relation to effective evidence-based programs broadly examined in the literature. This method provided for the identification of shared experiences among juvenile probation officers who currently work with juvenile gang members on their caseloads.

Definitions

Criminal street gang: Three or more persons having a common identifying sign or symbol or identifiable leadership who continuously or regularly associate in the commission of criminal activities. A street gang is a cohesive group that engages in violent and illegal behavior (Gottschalk, 2017).

Department of Juvenile Justice: Protects the community, imposes accountability for violations of the law, provides treatment and rehabilitation, equips juvenile offenders to live responsibly and productively, and serves youth up to age 21 (Russell et al., 2017).

Evidence-based practice programs: Selection and implementation of programs, practices, or policies that have been shown to work (Lee et al., 2022).

Get-tough policy: Policy that cracks down on rising crime rates by implementing policies, procedures, and shifts in the law to more punitive punishment (Cavanagh et al., 2022).

Juvenile justice reform: Created by the special counsel, issued recommendations to reduce recidivism by investing in evidence-based programs to reduce the number of youth housed in the facility, decrease out-of-home placements, and implement new risk and needs assessments for each youth (Cavanagh et al., 2022)

Juvenile probation officer: Trying to prevent juveniles from further immersion in the system and increase their chances of exiting the system, these individuals address criminogenic needs and foster rehabilitation to reduce recidivism rates among young offenders (Ingel et al., 2021).

Low socioeconomic status/poverty: The social position of an individual or specific group as deemed by their possession of social resources. Youth violence and offending have been well documented when youth reside in disorganized, poor neighborhoods (Yaney, 2022).

Recidivism: Rates based on if evidence-based programming reduces reoffending and can also be defined as a relapse into criminal behavior and a return to detention (Olver et al., 2022; Yanney, 2022).

Assumptions

In this study, I explored whether evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for juvenile offenders. Howell (2019) suggested that the field must move forward with the deployment of programs to produce worthwhile reductions in gang involvement and gang violence (p. 996). From my experience as a probation officer, evidence-based programs are put in place to reduce recidivism rates, but for many youths, treatment completion is low. Often, this is due to the youth being unwilling to detach from a gang (see Howell, 2019). I assumed that when evidence-based programs are provided to these youth, they must want to change their behavior and make better decisions. I also assumed that if they have no desire to change, then regardless of the services being provided, no changes in behavior or reframing from gang association will be made.

A second assumption was that evidence-based programs for gang involved youth are all effective. According to Thornberry et al. (2018), "although evidence-based programs for a variety of other problem behaviors do exist, currently no known gang programs meet rigorous standards of demonstrated effectiveness" (p. 954). *Evidence based* can have different meanings, and strenuous standards can be used to qualify whether a program works. However, many evidence-based programs have shown mixed results in outcomes.

Lastly, I assumed that quantitative research demonstrates stability and is crucial in research. Tuval-Mashiach (2021) suggested that using quantitative research has become more complicated with psychology. Qualitative research, on the other hand, is becoming more widespread among researchers. Qualitative research allows participants to have

control through transferability and dependability with regards to findings (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021). In my research, the probation officer participants provided their perceptions and human experience with evidence-based programs and gangs.

Scope and Delimitation

This research was focused on whether juvenile probation officers perceive that evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for African American juvenile gang members. Furthermore, the study incorporated researching policies and evidence-based programs that have been used to gain an understanding of how evidence-based programs are being executed to reduce recidivism rates. Currently, there are challenges regarding which programs are effective and evidence based on the current research.

In working with gang-involved youth and evidence-based programs, juvenile probation officers are on the forefront. When juvenile offenders obtain delinquent offenses, evidence-based programs are put in place as an alternative to detention and short- or long-term facility stays. Juvenile probation officers are trained and equipped with finding these services. Evidence-based programs are implemented to maximize probation completion and reduce recidivism rates. According to Ingel et al. (2021), "Perceptions about evidence-based programs can impact how juvenile probation officers adapt and use them, and to which evidence-based programs they refer their clients. While there is research that explores evidence-based programs and delinquency, limited studies examine juvenile probation officers' perceptions and use of evidence-based programs" (p. 4). Considering this lack of literature, examining juvenile probation officer's perceptions could clarify when to apply evidence-based programs and the likelihood of these programs being effective in reducing recidivism.

Limitations

A first limitation that affected this study was how I conducted my research. One aspect was the lack of information on evidence-based programs and gang-involved youth in the state of Georgia. Most of the information available was focused on evidence-based programs and juvenile delinquency not evidence-based programs for gang-involved youth. Another limitation was the scope of the study. Juvenile probation officer participants provided perceptions on whether evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for juvenile African American young men who are gang involved. Historically, qualitative interviewing provides an in-depth understanding from individuals who have firsthand knowledge and experiences of a topic. However, bias has been viewed as a problem in qualitative research. When certain topics are being explored, authenticity can be jeopardized. Thus, building trustworthiness with interviewees can encourage open ended questions and credible data (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

Juvenile probation officers were interviewed for this study and a small sample size was considered, which did not guarantee generalizability. Generalizability is when a study produces universal knowledge and is considered as a representative of a larger population because a random sample was employed (Hays & McKibben, 2021, p. 178). The goal of this study was not to reach generalizability, but to help build an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon inner city Atlanta counties. Lastly, interviewing juvenile probation officers does not guarantee authenticity. According to Nunes et al. (2021), "Authenticity is defined as having accuracy, integrity, proficiency, and connectedness" (p. 2). Challenges could have arisen with the participants' credibility. Probation officers could be afraid of losing their job and fear could affect the information they provide. Also, there could be bias, creating untrustworthy interviews. Authenticity comes with building trust, which opens the door for honesty, integrity, and fairness. Rubin and Rubin (2012) suggested that building trust encourages more open interviews.

Significance of the Study

Despite the policies, laws, and evidence-based programs put in place to reduce recidivism rates for juvenile gang offenders, recidivism rates are continuing to rise. According to Spooner et al. (2017), "Unlike recidivism for adults, there are no estimates for juveniles. However, various studies suggests that recidivism indicates that 85% of juveniles and young adults aged 24 or younger released from a correctional facility was rearrested within 5 years" (p. 275). Implementing effective evidence-based programs to prevent youth from joining gangs should be a priority. In this qualitative study, I examined the perceptions of juvenile probation officers and whether they feel that evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for juvenile African American young men who are gang involved. My intent was to interview juvenile probation officers and gain their perspectives in this qualitative study. Limited studies have been conducted to examine juvenile probation officers' perceptions regarding use of evidence-based programs for gang-involved youth.

Summary and Transition

Juvenile offending, gangs, and recidivism are highly relevant topics that have been brought to the attention of the juvenile justice system, law and policy makers, and law enforcement entities in the state of Georgia. These stakeholders have invested time into trying to reduce recidivism rates for juvenile gang members. Although evidencebased programs are an alternative to detention, there is little evidence that signifies their effectiveness for gang-involved youth. Elliot et al. (2020) suggested that evidence-based programs in the juvenile justice system reduce recidivism and provide cost savings. Juvenile probation officers were interviewed to gather data regarding their perceptions whether these programs reduce recidivism rates for this population.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Gang activity continues to increase and has become widespread in America today, with younger youth joining. Gangs create a centrality for violence, cohesion, and respect for their group through threats and violence (Mitchell et al., 2017). With gang violence continuing to increase, there are several factors as to why youth join gangs, such as low socioeconomic status, lack of education, negative peer involvement, and a lack of parental supervision (Babik, 2019). These factors can have a leading effect as gang crime continues to increase, and communities struggle to reduce youth violence. Although the state of Georgia's get-tough policy includes incarceration of gang members, studies suggest that incarceration of youth can lead to mental health issues that could carry into adulthood.

To reduce gang violence, evidence-based programs are strategies used to reduce recidivism. Evidence-based programs that have been used for gang members include cognitive behavioral therapy, gang resistance education and training, family functional therapy, multisystemic therapy, and community-centered programs (Howell, 2019). Despite efforts to reduce gang crime, many young gang members continue to sell and traffic drugs, and they have the highest rates for violent and assaultive offenses. Unlike adult recidivism, statistics for juvenile recidivism are not readily available. Research focusing on juveniles and gangs is limited, but these programs are expected to have large impacts (Howell, 2019). There has been a significant problem with juvenile gangs in the state of Georgia despite the Governor Kemp's get-tough policy and an increase in law enforcement officers. Evidence-based intervention programs, which are supposed to be responsible for targeting gang involved youth, have not been well studied to show the programs' effectiveness (Boxer et al., 2017).

In this chapter, I provide research on juvenile gangs, the get-tough policies, and recidivism in the state of Georgia. Also, I include evidence-based programs that have been used for gang-involved individuals. Research on this topic suggests a lack of evidence exists proving these programs deter youth from joining gangs and whether these interventions are effective in reducing gang violence (Higginson et al., 2018). I begin with discussing the policies and laws in Georgia related to gang involvement before discussing risk factors, evidence-based programs, and recidivism rates. Lastly, I review several articles that relate to programs and intervention for gang-involved youth and the programs' effectiveness.

Literature Search Strategy

I reviewed the literature on policies, laws, gangs, and recidivism rates in Georgia. I also reviewed other states' statistics and intervention strategies and programs used. There were few articles focused on evidence-based programs in Georgia, but I did find articles regarding evidence-based programs that reduce recidivism in other states. In my review, I considered articles focused on factors that contribute to gang involvement, recidivism, and program effectiveness. All the research was conducted through the Walden University Library, Google Scholar, and Sage Journals. To find resources for this study, I used the following search terms: *gangs, gang involvement, evidence-based programs, socioeconomic status, juvenile justice programs, delinquency, gangs and* schools, juvenile recidivism, gangs and socioeconomic status, interventions, and programs. These terms aided me in obtaining several articles and ideas for this study. I searched databases including Sage Publications, Georgia Department of Juvenile Justice websites, and scholarly journal publications. Most of the articles used in this research are less than 5 years old and focused on juvenile gang members and programs.

Theoretical Foundation

Social disorganization theory was created by Shaw and McKay (1942, 1969) and later updated by Robert J. Sampson (Errol et al., 2021). This theory argues that crime is concentrated in low socioeconomic neighborhoods, decreasing social control and social ties (Lei & Beach, 2020). These disadvantages increase juveniles' desires to join gangs and commit criminal offenses. However, research shows that an increase in social controls, such as family ties, leads to less crime among juveniles living in disadvantaged neighborhoods. This is known as *neighborhood resilience*; with an increase in family ties, a resilience to crime develops. According to Lei and Beach (2020), "To the extent that family integration is greater, this can confer greater family level control, counteracting the disorganization effect of the neighborhood disadvantaged health care systems, lower education attainment, high poverty, and crime" (p. 1802). This theory suggests that family is a protective factor and creates a barrier to delinquency and youth joining gangs.

Social disorganization theory was used to explain why youth join gangs. The environment an adolescent is raised in can dictate their behavior. If a juvenile has more family engagement with less conflict, it decreases delinquency. Most studies have been conducted in metropolitan areas in disadvantaged neighborhoods. According to Lei and Beach (2020), "More than half of poor African Americans live in disadvantaged rural areas, mostly in the south with disadvantage health care systems, lower education attainment, high poverty, and crime" (p. 1802). This theory suggests that living in disadvantaged neighborhoods increases gang involvement and crime, but active family engagement can reduce it and lead to neighborhood resilience.

General strain theory (1992) can be used to explain life stressors or events that young offenders may encounter and how those experiences could increase youth wanting to join a gang. In homes with limited resources, poverty, lack of education, or lack of parenting, these strains could lead to individuals turning to gangs (Thaxton & Agnew, 2018). Furthermore, when offenders react to those strains, it could be unhealthy and increase criminal offending.

General strain theory is a crucial theoretical foundation when looking to understand why youth join gangs. Because strains can have an impact on juvenile offending, this theory has become well known among qualitative researchers (Thaxton & Agnew, 2018). Strain is a condition or action that is disliked or seen as unjust. Thus, general strain theory argues that those strains—poverty, lack of resources, absentee parent, poor school involvement or lack of education, and lack of social support—lead juveniles to cope by turning to a life of crime.

Literature Review

Juvenile Justice/ Court History

The juvenile justice system was created in the 1800s. Initially, juveniles and adults experienced the same justice process and juveniles were treated as adults. Due to

the harsh punishments of the criminal justice system, juveniles and adults were separated. The first two states to separate youth and adult offenders were Massachusetts and New York (Teske, 2020). Originally, juveniles and adults were tried in the same court room, which did not impact change in improving the court system. Although law and policy makers' overall goal were to provide diversion programs to rehabilitate the youth, rehabilitation gained less attention, and the future welfare of the people gained more attention. From the 1970s to the 1990s, homicide rates increased for African Americans, and get-tough policies came into effect (Feld, 2019).

Georgia Legislation History

Progressive Era

Before the get-tough era, there was the Progressive era, which was established in the first two decades of the twentieth century (Ely, 2019) This era was considered *child savers* because it focused on rehabilitation and therapy. This era also took the blame away from children, citing that children lacked criminal responsibility. However, in the case of *In Re Gault* (1967), the focus shifted from children being in a therapeutic setting to being prosecuted as criminals in court. The outcome of this case was significant because children were provided with the same constitutional rights as adults. Gleason (2019) stated, "Though not addressing the totality of the relationship of the juvenile and the state, the case with Gault asserted a novel proposition: Neither the Fourteenth Amendment nor the Bill of Rights is for adults alone" (p. 361). Although *In Re Gault* changed some of the dynamics with children's constitutional rights, issues remained with police being able to interrogate juveniles at police precincts or schools before court proceedings without legal counsel.

Get-Tough Era

The get-tough approach moved away from therapy and rehabilitation and created more punishment. This era created the *nothing works* proliferation because law and policy makers tried different strategies to reduce recidivisms rates, but crime continued to rise. Nothing works was created by sociologist Robert Martinson as a retrospective examination to reform the criminal and legal system (Bowers, 2021). Martinson's purpose was not to criticize the reforms already created to combat crime, but for the legal system to do nothing for offenders who had high recidivism rates. This methodology focused more on low-risk offenders and less on high-risk offenders.

Georgia eventually separated their criminal and juvenile justice system following Texas. According to the Honorable Judge Teske (2020), "In 2007 Texas was one of the first states to pass a series of reforms which increased its prison population and costed taxpayers billions of dollars to keep afloat" (p. 1171). Georgia has been a Republican state for centuries and has been led by Republican leaders (Teske, 2020). Politicians fear losing electoral gains, which has been a deterrent for an increase in evidence-based programs (Teske, 2020).

As Georgia continued to rely on get-tough policies, gang crime continued to increase. Prosecutors had a hard time prosecuting gang members under the existing statutes. Therefore, in 1998, HB1391 was created. Initially, this bill focused on adult offenders, but when law makers began seeing more juveniles committing gang offenses, the juvenile code was updated to reflect felony offenses, including gang crime for juvenile gang members. As a result, more penalties and harsher sentences were imposed. HB1391 became a success and became the heart of the Georgia Street Terrorism and Prevention Act (Pitman, 2021). In 2010, the Georgia Street and Terrorism Prevention Act was amended again. According to Pittman (2021):

Aggrieved by a pattern of gang activity, the subsection now allows any person aggrieved by a criminal street gang or criminal gang activity. Thus, the burden was lowered to what must be proven and allowed more opportunities to establish how the plaintiff was aggrieved. (p. 5). Under the Georgia code, any person involved in a gang or commit gang activity through the commission of offense under this act was prohibited (O.C.G.A. 16-15-4, 2010).

Juvenile Court History/House Bill 242

After the change in the court system separating juveniles and adults, issues arose in Georgia with how juveniles were treated. Many of these youth were being charged as adults if they committed one of seven crimes: murder, rape, armed robbery, aggravated child molestation, aggravated sodomy, aggravated sexual battery, and voluntary manslaughter (Peterson, 2006). In 2013, Governor Nathan Deal created House Bill 242/juvenile justice reform with many changes in the juvenile justice system. This bill was responsible for separating Class A and Class B felony juvenile offenders. Class A felony offenders were committed to the Department of Juvenile Justice for 5 years, and Class B offenders were committed for 3 years (Teske, 2020). Previously, Class A and Class B felons had been treated the same and given the same sentence. Also, this bill focused more on at-risk youth opposed to those who committed minor status offenses, such as running away or truancy. The courts did not commit low-risk offenders to the department of juvenile justice and prohibited out-of-home placements for youth who were low-risk offenders. Lastly, evidence-based programs were put in place to provide services and treatment to juvenile offenders as an alternative to detention.

Since taking office in March 2017, Governor Kempt has taken a different approach to handling crime in Georgia. Kemp does not base crime reduction on evidencebased programs and has unveiled new penalties to combat crime. Kemp's leadership relies on get-tough policies to handle the increase in crime, including gangs and drug/sex trafficking. In 2020, the governor advised Georgians were under siege because of the increase in gang violence (Bluestein, 2020). The Office of Juvenile Justice reported that there are nearly one million gang members—now three times more than previous estimates (Merrin et al., 2020, p. 624). Research suggests that most gang offenses are created by juveniles, suggesting the governor's get-tough policies effectiveness is doubtful (Bluestein, 2020). Because politicians and law makers focus has been on gettough policies, limited resources are available to address the ongoing gang problem among juveniles in the community or reentering the community from detention. According to Spooner et al. (2017), "Upon release from juvenile detention, gang involved youth often recidivate more frequently and sooner than their non gang counterparts" (p. 275). Strategies to reduce crime with evidence-based programs has shifted with Georgia's current governor, and the focus is less on validated programs to assist with lowering recidivism rates.

23

In addition to the reduction in evidence-based program, several cuts have been made in Georgia's court system. Cuts were made in the public defender sector and accountability court (Bluestein, 2020). Communities have been impacted by this decision because accountability courts hold juveniles accountable for the crimes they commit and implement practices and programs to restore a juvenile offender reentering the community. Limited funding created limited discretion for judges, decision making, and a decrease in rehabilitation programs (Arnett, 2018). Cut funding also affected savings of taxpayer dollars and eliminated programs that work (Bluestein, 2020). The previous governor's plan was aimed at success in reducing recidivism, but law makers are skeptical about the success of the current governor's plan to crack down on crime.

Five Domains of Gang Membership

In gangs, particularly in neighborhoods with a low socioeconomic status, membership entail juveniles gaining social and cultural needs. Gang memberships has increased from 2% to 37% (Lenzi et al., 2019, p.563). Often, these youth need financial stability and protection to overcome residing in poverty. There are several risk factors that have been determined to influence juveniles joining a gang: peer groups, family, school, and community factors (Higginson et al., 2018). When youth join gangs, they believe that they are making a rational choice, and they see it as a personal advantage.

Ethnicity and Gang Involvement

A juvenile in a street gang could be violent, aggressive, and show more representation such as symbols, tattoos, graffiti, or committing an illegal act that is against the law (Gottschalk, 2017). Gottschalk (2017), states "Gang members are typically violent, young, urban males with tattoos or other visible symbols—basically someone to be feared. A criminal street gang is a troublesome group that is readily identifiable and evokes reactions from the public" (p. 1268). When a juvenile commits a criminal act, it puts the community at risk, and it increases their criminal ability to reoffend.

Ethnicity and race have become an important factor when it comes to gang involvement. Youth who have joined a gang has experienced higher rates of trauma, neglect, and maltreatment than youth who are not in a gang (Mendez et al., 2020). Often, these youth are less acquiescent to receiving evidence-based treatment. Research shows that ethnicities who experienced trauma and maltreatment the most, and are more susceptible to joining gangs are Blacks, Latinos, and Native Americans (Boxer et al., 2022; Mendez et al. 2020). Studies also show that minorities are less fearful of crime than their White counterparts because they have resided in neighborhoods with high volumes of crime, gang involvement, and lower socioeconomic status (Lane and Fox, 2020). During adolescents, when a child is exposed to emotional and physical stress, it creates a negative environment, and increases delinquency. Due to these factors, minorities develop a lack of empathy towards authority and develop a lack of remorse for their criminal actions (Mendez et al., 2020).

Peer Groups and Gang Involvement

As youth grow into adolescents, peers become the number one influence in their life, and depending on whether those youth are negative or positive, it can be a major factor. When youth associate with negative peers, it can influence delinquent and

25

criminal behavior (Conway-Turner et al., 2020). Some adolescents make the decision to associate themselves with negative peers, while others are drawn to positive ones (Walters, 2020). Peers are the primary source of information because they influence adolescent development. Buchanan (2019) suggested that youth join gangs because they have delinquent friends (p. 2). When a youth join a gang, their criminal activity increases, causing them to become involved with the juvenile justice system. Additionally, these adolescents are less likely to obtain employment as adults and more likely to have financial problems. They look to the gang for support, financial stability, and as family. Furthermore, many of them who are in gangs come from broken families, have less family support, and a lack of parental supervision.

Studies continue to investigate whether joining a gang is based on delinquent friends. Thomas (2018) suggested that when there is delinquent behavior in a youth, it does not necessarily mean that they are associating with negative friends, but there are other factors that could influence delinquency such as society bonding, gender, and selfcontrol. However, other researchers argue that associating with negative peers play a role in the choices that they make when committing delinquent acts (Thomas, 2018, p. 716). When looking at the word choice for example, youth who are already in a gang, but rank low, makes the choice to commit a criminal act to gain a reward for their deviant behavior and move up in rank. On the other hand, those youth who are already high ranking may not be influenced by social influence and rewards.

Juvenile Gang Members and Lack of Resources and Socioeconomic Status

Low socio-economic status has become an issue in the United States as to why youth join gangs. According to Osman and Wood (2021), "Empirical research shows that gang members have disruptive family lives, and they live in deprived communities where their psychological impact can be affected" (p. 2). When looking at psychological impact, studies suggest that living in deprived neighborhoods can affect the mental health state of a person and influence them to join a gang. For young men who are living in deprived areas, they join a gang to learn masculinity. Usually in poor areas, there are limited prosocial activities and they turn to gang members to gain power and respect (Higginson et al., 2018). Although this is their way of overcoming poverty, it increases arrest and a path to crime.

A families' socioeconomic status is a comprehensive reflection of their overall social capital. Residing in poor neighborhoods can have an influence on life's course, such as finding positive peers and role models, and reframing from deviant behavior. Research has noted that if poverty areas became gentrified, it could increase the values in homes and community development and reduce violent offending. With gentrification, a study of 500 cities suggested that it increased the wellbeing and health of poor neighborhoods (Tran et al., 2020).

African American young men between the ages of 13-16, living in poverty increases the chances of delinquency. Minority youth are leading in the juvenile justice system compared to other ethnic groups. Research suggests that minorities are overrepresented in official records and self-reporting by 21%-38% (Carson, 2018, p.

451). In addition to leading in the highest incarceration rate, minority youth reside in poorly resourced communities with blocked opportunities and limited resources (Carson, 2018). Due to gang involved minority youth living in disadvantaged communities, it increases the likelihood of street socialization and criminal offending.

School and Gang Life

School failure is significant when it comes to gang involved youth in the United States. Schools should focus on gang involvement because students who are gang involved have higher incarceration rates than their peers who are not gang involved. Higginson et al. (2018) states "Gang members that have low attachment, exposure to violence at school, and educational difficulties show significant association for gang involvement" (p. 9). Gang membership can begin in preschool if there is a lack of parenting, socio-economic factors, and high levels of family conflict. Schools have now become recruiting grounds for gang members.

Gangs and schools are a major factor for gender differences and race/ethnicity. African Americans are sent to alternative schools and expelled at higher rates than other ethnicities (Carson, 2018). Research has established that with a lack of education and low level of literacy, there are higher levels of juvenile justice involvement for African Americans. Minorities who disengaged in school expectations are called oppositional culture, but those who are engaged are acting White or are called nerds (Edward, 2021). To steer away from oppositional culture, teachers and counselors actively support and engage African American students, by providing resources that helps with building academic performance and achieving academic success.

Lack of Parental Involvement and Gang Affiliated Youth

As an adolescent, peers serve as the main source for socialization. However, family plays as a major factor as well. Throughout the stages of adolescent development, family and parental behavior has an influence on a youth's life, particularly making right and wrong choices. As adolescents become older, there are challenges that they face, to include negative peer association, drug use, and substance use (Mowen et al., 2018). With positive family support, it creates positive social outcomes. However, negative relationships can increase delinquency and a lack of coping skills. According to Mowen et al. (2018),

Developmental researchers have long recognized that family conflict is associated with several deleterious outcomes beyond delinquency and offending. These negative outcomes can be broadly categorized as issues of externalization (aggression and antisocial behavior) or internalization (depression and low self-esteem) (p. 277).

Parents are a support factor because they provide warmth and discipline when needed. These two factors contribute to the emotional wellbeing of an adolescent that has been linked to reducing delinquent involvement. Studies show that when an adolescent is impacted by a negative family environment it increases their association in wanting to join a gang (Higginson et al., 2018). However, the possibility of joining a gang when there is a positive family environment decreases those odds.

Much of the research on gangs and family are due to a lack of parenting and parental conflicts. When there are parental conflicts in the home, it often increases anxiety, depression, and negative outcomes on an adolescent's life. Additionally, it creates a breakdown in social bonding and increases delinquency and criminal activity (Carson, 2018). It is important that adolescents feel safe and have the protection and security that they feel is needed within the family structure to be productive.

Evidence-Based Programs

To reduce recidivism in the juvenile justice system, evidence-based programs have become more prevalent in the United States today. According to Elliot et al. (2020), "Evidence-based programs are effective treatment and prevention models that focus on programs, practices, and policies" (p. 1305). Considering the increase of gang members, federal, state, and local governments have invested in interventions to try and combat this gang problem. Evidence-based programs came into effect in 2013 in Georgia, during the development of the juvenile justice reform, when changes were made to the juvenile code. Emphasis was placed on evidence-based programs as a decision-making tool to reduce reoffending (Russell, 2017). Studies suggests that this tool provides cost savings and reduces recidivism rates by 10% and will save over \$425 million by 2030 (Elliott et al., 2020, p.1314).

Evidence-based programs were sought in the state of Georgia because many lowrisk youth were taken out of their homes and placed in programs designed for high-risk offenders (Russell, 2017). Before House Bill 242/juvenile justice reform was created, many judges' hands were tied because there were not enough community programs for juvenile offenders. However, after the establishment of the juvenile justice reform by Governor Deal, it began to make a difference because judges had more program options. Evidence-based programs has been an understudied topic for gang members and if these programs reduce recidivism rates. Researchers have completed extensive research on determining if evidence-based programs work. To do this, programs were deciphered by their quantity, quality, and the impact it had on juvenile offenders with deterring future criminal activity (Elliot et al., 2020). In a study that took place in Florida, two evidence-based programs were implemented to juvenile offenders to reduce recidivism rates. The results were substantial and the programs provided cost savings and reduced recidivism rates for these offenders. From 2010-2011 there was an 8% reduction in rearrest and a 24% reduction in felony rearrest (Elliot et al., 2020, p. 1314). Although there are studies that has shown that evidence-based programs are considered best practice, there is no sound methodology for determining what works for gang members.

Multisystemic Therapy

Multisystemic therapy is defined as a community-based treatment program designed to treat youth with behavioral issues (Vermeulen et al., 2017). During sessions, therapists meet with the family on a weekly or biweekly bases for 4 to 6 months to implement counseling and set goals for the family to achieve. In some states, this program showed no significant difference with lowering recidivism rates, but studies suggests that there was a significant positive outcome when using multisystemic therapy (Vermeulen, 2017). Although research suggests that multisystemic therapy reduces recidivism rates for juvenile offenders, there was not a significant difference with reducing the recidivism rates for gang involved youth. They often failed out early in the treatment process or was rearrested early on while receiving treatment (Boxer, 2017). Boxer et al. (2017) states, "Youth who are not in a gang had an 85% successful closure rate, compared to youth who are in a gang case closed with a 62% successful rate" (p. 108). Despite this significant difference, multisystemic therapy is cost effective and an alternative to detention for juvenile offenders.

Gang Resistance Education and Training

Gang resistance education and training has shown a reduction in youth joining gangs. This training is taught by law enforcement officers and its main goals are to reduce recidivism rates and reduce gang memberships (Walters, 2019). This program has been shown to be effective with delivering the best treatment for juvenile gang members (Box et al., 2017). In one random study, 31 students were chosen from different schools to participate in the gang resistance education training curriculum program. The results were accelerating because the program reduced youth wanting to join a gang. The program was proven to be impactful for ethnically diverse groups by lowering the odds by 24% of youth wanting to join gangs over a 4-year study (Howell, 2019, pg. 634). Because the program was a success when studied, it was executed in many states.

Cognitive Behavioral Therapy

Cognitive behavioral therapy, as defined by Denecke et al. (2022), is an intervention used to reduce recidivism rates, reduce distress, and increase adaptive behavior in patients with mental health and behavioral problems. Research suggests that this program may be effective in preventing youth from joining gangs because it changes their mindset and thought process (Hinsberger, 2017). When altering the thought process of a juvenile offender, it diverts them from violence and a life of crime, to focus more on

altering their behavior to think positively and make the right choices. Cognitive behavioral therapy has had its challenges because it has been questioned by researchers on how it facilitates change for gang involved youth. There is not a lot of evidence that shows that this evidence-based program work. However, there are strategies that it has.

Summary and Transition

Based on the research of several literary works regarding juvenile gangs in Georgia, I have considered several risk factors leading to youth joining gangs and using evidence-based programs to reduce recidivism. There is little research on whether evidence-based programs reduce recidivism for African American juvenile gang offenders, however, some of these programs have shown changes for at risk youth, and reduction in youth wanting to join a gang. Georgia's current Governor continues to place emphasis on get tough policies to combat this ongoing gang problem. However, some research shows that evidence-based programs can reduce violent offending, reoffending, and antisocial behaviors.

I discussed several risk factors leading to juvenile recidivism. Studies used by researchers showed that African American youth who grew up in low socio-economic areas, associated with negative peers, and had school related problems often turned to gangs and committed a criminal offense. Parenting styles and or practices are also a risk factor if done inappropriately or inconsistently.

The benefits of this study have been the findings in the research may lead to a profound understanding and contribution of why youth join gangs in Georgia. Although the main goal is to reduce recidivism, law and policy makers have implemented get tough policies and as a result, recidivism rates continue to rise for gang involved youth. Furthermore, based on this research, there are limited studies on evidence-based programs and its effect on gang involved youth.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

My purpose in this qualitative research was to better understand the perspectives of juvenile probation officers regarding the effectiveness of evidence-based programs in Georgia for gang-involved African American men between ages 12 and 21. In this chapter, I present the research design. I include the rationale, role of the researcher, methodology, sampling plan, and instrumentation. Finally, I present the ethical considerations.

Research Design and Rational

The central phenomenon of this research study was the perspectives of juvenile probation officers who work with gang-involved African American youth in the state of Georgia. In this study, I explored the phenomenon by analyzing the existing literature related to juvenile gangs throughout the country and in the state of Georgia. I gathered data by interviewing juvenile probation officers in the surrounding inner city Atlanta counties who supervise juvenile gang offenders on their caseloads. Due to the lack of literature involving probation officers and evidence-based programs, knowledge on this topic was needed to help address the gap between real-world studies, perceptions of evidence-based programs and how they are implemented, and the research in the literature (Ingel et al., 2021). Probation officers were interviewed, and qualitative data were collected regarding their perceptions and experiences. One research question guided this research study: RQ: How do juvenile probation officers perceive the effectiveness of evidencebased programs in reducing recidivism rates for African American men between ages 12 and 21 who are gang involved in the state of Georgia?

There are three methodological approaches a researcher can select for a research study: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. Olateru-Olagbegi (2020) stated, "A researcher must choose research that best address the research problem, answers the research questions, and fulfill the purpose of the study" (p. 43). A qualitative approach involves direct personal experience with the goal of understanding external or internal states" (Olateru-Olagbegi, 2020, p.44). Furthermore, qualitative researchers seek to understand perceptions and beliefs, asking open-ended questions through interviewing (Olateru-Olagbegi, 2020). After careful consideration of this research and the goals of this study, I determined a qualitative research method was most appropriate.

Qualitative research allows researchers to make interpretations from life experiences of others. Unlike quantitative research, which is used to test data and hypotheses, qualitative research is focused on theories and concepts derived from interviewees. According to Merriam and Grenier (2019), "Qualitative researchers are interested in how people understand and make meaning of the world" (p. 6). Qualitative research provides insight on research topics, and participants feel free to express their emotions about a phenomenon from their observations. My focus in this research was the perspectives of juvenile probation officers who supervise African American gang members and who have used evidence-based programs. Evidence-based programs was the object of observation. This research project is a shared experience, and this made it relevant to interview probation officers.

Grounded theory was used in this study. This theory is the most influential paradigm in qualitative research (Patton, 2015). Grounded theory was first discovered by Glaser and Strauss (1967) and was later reconstructed by Strauss and Corbin (1998). As suggested by Charmaz and Thornberg (2020), *social constructivism* means that knowledge is learned through the interactions of others. The information participants provide is credible, original, and useful (Charmaz and Thornberg, 2020, p. 315).

For this research, I interviewed juvenile probation officers who shared their experiences and knowledge about evidence-based programs and juvenile gang members. Participants also shared whether they believe evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for gang-involved African American male juveniles. My plan was to interview 10 probation officers or until data saturation was met.

Role of the Researcher

When obtaining data, a researcher must establish a rapport with the participants, particularly an empathetic one that creates good connection and trustworthiness. Rubin and Rubin (2012) suggested that a trusting relationship stems from a conversational partnership through which a researcher respects the experience, knowledge, and insight of the participant. A researcher should be aware of their attitude toward the participant, including being aware of emotions and needs. Additionally, researchers must follow all ethical guidelines when conducting the study. In this study, all information gathered from

interviews was recorded on Zoom and transcripts were analyzed. Once the transcripts were analyzed, all Zoom recording were deleted.

As the researcher, I did not have any supervisory role with the participants. As a current probation officer, I reminded the participants that their information would not be disclosed, and their identities would remain confidential. Also, I educated the participants of their rights and that at any time they could decline to continue with the interview. Juvenile probation officers provided their firsthand experiences and knowledge about the phenomenon. Furthermore, my role as the researcher and as a juvenile probation officer reflected how I interpreted the data. I took measures to ensure I did not overly interpret.

Methodology

Participant Selection

The target population for this research study was juvenile probation officers who work with juvenile African American men who are gang involved. These probation officers resided in Georgia and had at least 3 years of experience working with gangaffiliated juvenile offenders. I used purposeful sampling to select and recruit participants. Purposeful sampling is appropriate for cases that study people, organizations, communities, cultures, events, and critical incidence (Luciani et al., 2019). The information obtained was rich in context and provided an understanding of the research problem. By using this sampling technique, probation officers who were knowledgeable about the research phenomenon provided in-depth interviews on their perceptions and experiences. To recruit participants, I used social media platforms LinkedIn and Facebook. Participation criteria were: (a) juvenile probation officers who have worked with gang-affiliated youth for a minimum of 3 years; (b) who reside in an inner city in the state of Georgia and were willing to talk about their experiences as a probation officer working with gang-affiliated African American youth. If any of the probation officers did not meet these criteria, they were not able to participate.

Once the study received approval from Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB; approval # 12-19-22-0607061), probation officers were recruited. To recruit these individuals, I posted an invitation on Facebook and LinkedIn. I asked potential participants if they were willing to participate in the research study and talk about their knowledge and experiences related to juvenile African American gang-involved youth and evidence-based programs in Georgia. The aim and objective were to provide confidentiality, and I provided participants an informed consent form that they read and acknowledged by replying to my Walden email with "I consent." Furthermore, if any questions or concerns arose, participants could contact me or Walden University for further assistance.

The research plan was to conduct 10 interviews, but I met data saturation before the 10th participant. Guest et al. (2020) conducted a meta-analysis of qualitative research and noted that, across four data sets, 80% to 92% of all concepts were noted in the first 10 interviews (p. 2). Data saturation occurs during data analysis when the incoming data points produce little to no useful information about the study's objective (Guest et al., 2020).

Table 1

Interview Schedule

	Question
Experience and knowledge	1. How much time have you spent with juvenile
as a probation officer with	African American gang members and evidence-based
evidence-based programs	programs?
	2. In your experience supervising juvenile gang
	members, what additional support (case management,
	counseling, mental health services, mentoring, etc.) is
	effective in supporting the evidence-based programs to
	get positive results?
	3. From your personal experience with evidence-based
	programs, what do you believe could be enhanced to
	better service youth gang members (whether that be
	active involvement, engagement, and participation)?
	4. In working with juvenile gang members and
	evidence-based programs, do you see a lot of
	parent/guardian participation? Why or why not?
Challenges with evidence-	5. During your time referring juveniles to evidence-
based programs and juvenile	based programs, what have been some of the
offenders	challenges that you have encountered (e.g.,
	transportation, low socioeconomic status)?
Successful completion of	6. With gang-involved youth on your caseload, past
evidence-based programs	and current, how many would you say successfully
	completed an evidence-based program? Why is that?
Georgia's get-tough policy	7. How has the Georgia get-tough policy affected
	probation officers and evidence-based programs?
Attitude	8. Governor Nathan Deal was all about rehabilitation,
	and current Governor Brian Kemp has instilled get-
	tough policies on gangs. Do you believe that current
	evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for
	this population? Why or why not?
	9. Tell me about your involvement in the process of
	making referrals to evidence-based programs? Do you
	find these programs to be effective for gang involved
	youth?
	10. Is there anything else you would like to share that
	could be beneficial?

Instrumentation

In this study, I used three tools to collect data: an interview schedule, Zoom videoconferencing software, and a notebook. Before conducting the interviews, I explained to the participants that there would be no embarrassing answers and each question answered was important for the study. The interview schedule assisted with focusing on memory retention through a conversational approach with the interviewee (see Wheeler, 2021). I made the interviewees as comfortable as possible, building rapports and explaining that their identity would not be disclosed. I also provided the invitation explaining the process, how long the interview should take, and an informed consent statement. I provided all participants my Walden email address and contact phone number.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

In the study, I collected data through interviews with juvenile probation officers conducted online using Zoom. Each interview was tailored to answer the research question that focused on obtaining the probation officers' perceptions. It took 1 month to recruit and interview participants, transcribe interviews, and analyze the data for all participants. I recruited juvenile probation officers in the first 2 weeks and over the course of the following weeks, conducted interviews and transcribed the data for analysis.

Each interview took approximately 30–40 minutes. After the interviews were conducted, I expressed my appreciation to participants for their time and consideration completing the study. I explained the importance of their participation and how their

perspectives had significant value. Lastly, I explained that the results of the findings would be available 6 or 7 months after the dissertation is completed.

Data Analysis Plan

I used the grounded theory approach to analyze my data. Recordings were transcribed verbatim. My first step was familiarization, and I achieved that through transcription and thoroughly reviewing each interview and documents to obtain an understanding about the phenomenon (see Olateru-Olagbegi, 2020; Steele, 2021). After familiarizing myself with the transcriptions, I then uploaded the data into a computerbased qualitative analysis software called MAXQDA 2022. I used MAXQDA 2022 to assist with coding. This software allowed me to upload the interview transcripts to analyze the data and provided basic tools for coding participants' interviews.

After I analyzed the interview transcriptions using the software, coding began. Coding is labeling the concepts, themes, events, and examples in transcripts that speak to a research question (Rubin and Rubin, 2012). To code, I went through each interviewee's transcript line by line to identify words, phrases, events, and sentences that relate to the phenomenon I was studying. Next, I coded the themes. Themes are statements that summarize what is going on, explain what is happening, or suggest why something is done the way it is (Rubin and Rubin, 2012). To find the themes in each interview, I first reflected on what the interviewee said, then I examined the relationship that existed between the codes.

Issues of Trustworthiness

To ensure the quality, trustworthiness, and credibility of my research, the first step was to ensure that the study measured or tested what was being studied. It is important to know that for information to be trustworthy it must be credible. When conducting qualitative interviewing, there will be strategies that work and not work. As a researcher, I had to find the best strategies and techniques that worked for me. The first strategy that I used was prolonged engagement. This strategy assisted with ensuring that participates were actively engaging in the conversation and I asked for examples and followed up with questions. Triangulation was used to test for consistency in my research. I had to ensure that the data was accurate, which involved reading and rereading the data to ensure that it was credible. Other strategies to build trustworthiness was being self-aware and reflexive about the research theory. From collecting the data to interpreting it, it was key to remember that the information should not be grounded in your own viewpoint, but all information should come from the data. Lastly, I kept an audit trail. Audit trials are dependable notes that reflect thoughts and the researched material (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Having an audit trail assisted me with the transparency of the research pattern.

Credibility

One major factor about qualitative interviewing is that it produces credible results or is believable from the perspective of the participants in the research. Interviews must be conducted on individuals who are knowledgeable about the study and have firsthand experience. To obtain credible results, I interviewed juvenile probation officers who had experience and knowledge with gangs and evidence-based programs. Furthermore, transcripts were reviewed to ensure that there were no mistakes. Rubin and Rubin (2012) suggested that the participants should be able to provide their experience and remember the events or processes. The credibility of my research promoted triangulation.

Transferability

Transferability, created by Lincoln and Guba (1985) maintain patterns and descriptions from one context applicable to another. It is the degree to which the sample population is reflective of a sizable or significant population (Olateru-Olagbegi, 2020). The participants for this study were juvenile probation officers who had knowledge and experience with juvenile gangs, their culture, and evidence-based programs. Researchers argue that transferability is rich in detail and will describe the study's phenomenon. According to Patton (2015), "To produce transferability, it will allow credible findings to come from context, participants, data gathering, and data analysis" (p. 156). This research had enough detail that I was be able to paint a picture and guide scholars with the findings.

Confirmability

Christenbery (2017) describe confirmability as a degree of neutrality or the extent to which findings of a study are shaped by the respondents and not by the researcher's bias, motivations, or interests. To ensure confirmability for this research, an audit trial was established to assist with keeping and reporting information, and documents were checked and rechecked throughout the study. Confirmability brought a uniqueness to the research because researchers brought their own perspectives to the study. For this research, I served as the expert, and the first and second chair offered suggestions and guidelines to ensure that the study aligned. Since the start of the dissertation process, I was in continuous contact with my committee chairperson about this study which enabled me to decide confirmability.

Dependability

Dependability is based on replicability and repeatability. Essentially, it entails having data saturation with achieving the same results in the study. Dependability depends on trustworthiness and ensuring that the findings are consistent (Christenbery, 2017). Peer debriefing has been known to create trust because it builds communication and relationships. My study allowed my first and second chair to make comments to ensure my research was dependable and reliable.

Ethical Procedures

After I obtained approval from Walden's Institutional Review Board, I posted the invitation on Facebook and LinkedIn and began receiving emails from participants who wanted to participate in my study. For those individuals, I provided the consent form and interview schedule and asked via email for a time and date that would work for them after work hours. After each participant responded with a date and time, and an email that they consented, I then set up a Zoom calendar to keep up with the schedule. I also sent each participant a private Zoom link they and I had access to. I stressed to each participant that the information provided was confidential and their identity or testimony was confidential. I asked each participate if they had any questions and I then proceeded with advising each of them that their interview was voluntary and at any time, they could

resend their consent. I further advised each participate of the risk with participating in the study. After the interviews were completed, I thanked each participant for taking the time out of their busy schedule in assisting with this study. I ensured that all documents were kept confidential, and they were stored on an encrypted password protected computer. Maintaining the safety and security of these confidential records were an agreement established between myself, the Walden's Institutional Review Board, and the participants before the interviewing began. After the completion of the study, I continued to keep all documents locked on a computer that only I had access to. The data will be stored on a password protected laptop for a minimum of 10 years, per Walden requirements, before the data are destroyed.

Summary

In Chapter 3, I outlined the study design and provided the rational for selecting a Grounded theory approach. I described my role as the researcher and the data collection process such as the guidelines for selecting participants for this study. Also outlined in this research was the data collection process. Semi structured interviews were conducted on juvenile probation officers with 3 or more years of experience, knowledgeable about African American juveniles who are gang involved, and have experience with evidence-based programs. I also explained the qualitative software that was used. Lastly, I provided evidence to ensure trustworthiness when collecting and storing data. In Chapter 4 I provide the findings of the research study.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

In this qualitative study, I aimed to increase knowledge and understanding of Georgia's juvenile probation officers' perceptions of evidence-based programs and their belief of whether these programs reduce recidivism rates for juvenile African American gang- involved youth. The juvenile probation officers interviewed for this study reside and are employed in inner city Atlanta counties. One research question guided this study:

RQ: How do juvenile probation officers perceive the effectiveness of evidencebased programs in reducing recidivism rates for African American men between ages 12 and 21 who are gang involved in the state of Georgia? In this chapter, I present the results of the research. This chapter will include the setting,

demographics, data analysis, coding, code dictionary, evidence of data analysis, interpretation of results, and a summary.

Grounded theory approach developed by Strauss and Corbin (1990) was used to collect the data. Patton (2015) defined grounded theory as when a theory emerges from a researcher's observations and interviews out in the real world rather than in the laboratory or the academy (p. 18). Open coding was the first step to assess the data, followed by axial coding. This form of coding is an extension of open coding used to categorize the open codes. Lastly, I used selective coding to develop themes. Theming of the data informs a reader what the data mean or what the data are about (Saldana, 2015). Setting

I conducted semi-structured interviews to gain the perspectives of juvenile probation officers and whether they believe evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for juvenile African American gang members. There were 10 participants total, although data saturation was met before the 10th interview. All participants were interviewed using Zoom video conferencing, and I took notes in a notebook to aid interpretation. The interview invitation was placed on LinkedIn and Facebook to gain participants. After each participant responded that they were interested in participating in the study, I provided them the informed consent form and interview questions. In the same email, I asked that they provide a date and time for their interview. All the interviews occurred after work hours when participants were free from work obligations and were able to give their undivided attention to answering the questions thoroughly.

Although the participants were live on Zoom, they were advised to leave their cameras off for confidentiality purposes. Zoom provides the opportunity to interview participants and record them. This application also protected participants' privacy because each interviewee was provided a separate private link that only I could access. Each participant was advised in the consent form that they needed to access this platform from a safe location where their privacy would be protected without interferences or disruptions. According to Bullock et al. (2022), "Zoom video conferencing eliminates travel, and it maximizes the teaching and learning output" (p. 2). The average duration of each interview was 30 to 40 minutes. Initially, P10 did not want to interview via Zoom and preferred to write responses to the questions out on the interview schedule. After

thoroughly answering the questions, P10 emailed them to me at my university email address. However, I had follow-up questions that P10 answered using Zoom. No outside organizations or agencies affected this study, and approval was received from the Institutional Review Board.

Demographics

Participants were 10 juvenile probation officers in Georgia who all reside and are employed in inner city Atlanta counties. These officers had at least 3 years of experience as juvenile probation officers who have worked with the juvenile African American male gang population. There were seven female participants and three male participants in this study. Participants' years of experience ranged from 4 years to 24 years. Table 2 provides the years of experience of each officer participating in this study.

Table 2

Participants	Years of experience	
P1	9 or 10	
P2	4	
P3	8	
P4	24	
P5	15	
P6	20	
P7	10	
P8	12	
Р9	13	
P10	4	

Participants' Years of Experience

Data Analysis

All interviews were recorded using the Zoom application. Recordings were transcribed verbatim by me. Interviews were transcribed verbatim in Microsoft Word. To protect the privacy of participants, after the transcriptions were completed, I deleted the Zoom interview recordings. Also, all names were removed from the transcripts to protect participants' confidentiality. All participants were given a number: Participant 1 (P1), Participant 2 (P2), etc. The transcripts were imported into MAXQDA 2022 qualitative software. The data were analyzed using grounded theory. This theory, which is the most used in qualitative research, does not begin with a hypothesis. The hypothesis/theory is not revealed but is grounded in the data, as discovered by Strauss and Corbin (1990, as cited in Al-Eisawi, 2022).

Coding

Coding is defined as a word or short phrase that symbolically assigns a summative, salient, essence-capturing, and evocative attribute for a position of language based on visual data (Saldana, 2015). Three coding techniques were used to analyze the data: open coding, axial coding, and selective coding. In the first step of the analysis, transcripts were uploaded into the document section of MAXQDA 2022 software. All the information was coded using the grounded theory method.

Open Coding

Open coding was the first step in analyzing the data using grounded theory. Open coding breaks down the qualitative data into discrete parts and compares similarities and differences (Saldana, 2015). The interviews were read to thoroughly create a code, the

essential information from each interview was highlighted, and a code was created. The codes were labeled on the perceptions of juvenile probation officers regarding their beliefs of the influence and effectiveness of evidence-based programs. This process was reviewed three times, and 11 new codes were created based on the data.

Axial Coding

Axial coding is extending the analytical work from the initial coding to focused coding. This process further explains how the categories relate (Saldana, 2015). This part of the data analysis was conducted by finding similarities in the codes. When juvenile probation officers expressed similar meanings, it was placed under the same code assigned to groundedness. This process was reviewed three times to ensure that all codes were exhausted and that each response was placed under the correct code. After reviewing the codes a third time, there were 11 new codes that emerged from the data. There was a total of 27 codes and 250 segments of text. Table 3 outlines the codes used to analyze the data using the grounded theory method. The codes are labeled from most grounded to the least grounded in the research.

Table 3

Codes Used to Analyze Data, Grounded Theory Method

Codes	Participants contributing data	Groundednes
	(N = 10)	10
Parental involvement	10	43
Lack of resources increases recidivism	6	21
Probation officer's positive thoughts of evidence-based	7	18
programs with proper resources	0	1.5
Low socioeconomic status	8	17
Probation officer's negative thoughts about evidence-based	7	14
programs		
Mindset can cause inability to be receptive to services	7	14
Resources needed to decrease recidivism	5	14
Years of experience	10	12
Georgia get-tough policy impact juvenile offenders	7	11
More punitive measures and not rehabilitation	8	10
Negative case management provides negative support	2	8
Holding juvenile offenders accountable	5	8
Juveniles join gangs for a sense of belonging	4	7
Demographics impacts the success evidence-based programs	2	7
Ways to communicate with juvenile gang offenders	3	7
Education support enhances growth and success	5	6
The need to keep offenders from committing offenses	3	5
Probation officer's negative thoughts of community placement	4	5
Offenders unsuccessfully removed from evidence-based programs	4	4
Programs tolerance for gang-involved youth	4	4
Effective case management	2	3
Barriers to identifying the problem	2	3
Communication to address barriers	1	2
Diversity can improve communication	1	2
Poverty is the norm for juvenile gangs	1	$\frac{1}{2}$
Positive parental support	2	2
Assessment and classification	1	2

Selective Coding

Selective or theming of the data extends a phrase or sentence that identifies what the data are about (Saldana, 2015). Similar codes were grouped into themes in the third step of the analysis. Initially, there were three themes, but five themes were created after I discovered more codes that emerged from the iterative process. The codes within each theme were also reviewed to ensure the correct code was categorized with the correct theme. The definitions for each code are provided, grounded in the participants' narrations.

Code Dictionary

Assessment and classification: Youth who are high-level offenders should not be measured with low-level offenders. More tools and assessments are needed to measure high- versus low-level offenders.

Barriers to identifying problems: When working with gang-involved youth, no one takes the time to get to the root of the problem. When these youth act out and are removed from evidence-based programs, no one evaluates the problem or the situation. Realistically, there must be a real solution as to why the problem exists.

Communication to address any barriers: Communication between the probation officers, evidence-based program providers, and parent must be established in case barriers occur.

Demographics impact the success of evidence-based programs: With evidence-based programs, they are more successful in rural areas rather than inner cities. When

looking at evidence-based programs and focus groups, these programs are more successful in rural areas than in the inner city.

Diversity can improve communication: Diversity impacts recidivism and juvenile gang-involved youth. When providers share similarities and experiences with youth, the message has a better connection and deliverance. The youth receive information better from people they are familiar with. These youth should be linked to the right provider that better works with that offender.

Education support enhances growth and success: Education support assists youth with obtaining their high school diploma, GED, trade, and gang prevention. These gang-involved youth should have more education services and extracurricular activities. In addition, there should be more educational services for youth who cannot attend traditional schools. Education services increase success for juvenile gang offenders.

Effective case management: To be a compelling case manager, probation officers must follow up with evidence-based programs and additional services that are needed. They must also receive buy-in from the parent and effectively communicate. It is essential to have a case manager who is humble and humble to treatment.

Georgia get-tough policy: currently, the Georgia Get Tough Policy is preparing youth for prison. This policy has focused more on punitive measures and not rehabilitation. This policy has affected the referral process because the programs do not tolerate behavior issues. The get-tough policy does not implement change and only keep juveniles locked up. Because of this policy, probation officers hold youth more accountable instead of meeting them where they are. This policy is not designed to help the youth, only to keep them locked up.

Holding juvenile offenders accountable: Rehabilitative services should be provided for youth. However, they should still be held accountable if they do not attend. Accountability comes from the probation officer, parent, and program, which creates a balance for youth to succeed.

Juveniles join a gang for a sense of belonging: It is important not to judge juveniles for joining a gang. Many programs do not want them, and it makes these gang members justify why they want to join a gang. When youth join gangs, they have someone who wants them, and they feel accepted. Many youths join gangs because they cannot fit in at school, and they turn to the gang to provide them with what they need. There is a lack of supervision in the home, and they long for a sense of belonging.

Lack of resources increases recidivism: Juvenile gang offenders lack the resources necessary to thrive and be successful. Many programs once available have been taken away. Resources should be available and assessable but affordable. Many resources and services that could better this population have been cut. Juvenile probation officers have a hard time finding resources in their areas, and parents do not have the resources. With gang-involved youth, transportation has been a significant barrier because their access is limited. Furthermore, there is a lack of programming and funding, two of the biggest hurdles. The government is not giving enough grants/money to run these programs. *Low socioeconomic status*: Poverty is crucial when working with gang-involved youth. With many programs, parents cannot afford them. Many juveniles come from low socioeconomic backgrounds, and they commit offenses to eat or get what they need. Often, they are African American, impoverished, and come from low socioeconomic backgrounds, which leads to their criminal behavior and inability to meet their daily necessities. Additionally, transportation could be a barrier because of their economic status.

Mindset can cause an inability to be receptive to services: Youths and parents are not open to evidence-based programs because of their ego, immaturity, embarrassed, and withhold information. The juvenile and the parent must change their mindset. Often, gang involved juveniles are born into their lifestyle because their parents are in a gang too. The challenge is getting buy-in, and they must believe there is a better way. Juvenile gang offenders think that is their way of life, and they are not afraid to go to prison. Furthermore, they do not see the importance of the programs, and changing their mindset could implement change if they took all the information in and used it to their advantage. Many youths do not have a role model to change their mindset.

More punitive measures and not rehabilitation: probation officers have steered away from rehabilitation and implemented more punitive measures. Juvenile gang members do not come from good homes, and there has been an inclination toward discipline over nurturing. Locking up juvenile gang members only causes more problems because needed services are being taken away, and they are only becoming more institutionalized. There is no more rehabilitation; as soon as they mess up, they are removed.

Negative case management provides negative support: Probation officers must make changes because their actions are not working. Often, there needs to be more buy-in from the probation officer. They only identify what they see instead of looking at the family dynamics. Often, probation officers make referrals to make them rather than reaching the juveniles' needs, and they only care about numbers, not the youth. Probation officers have high caseloads and only assess youth for 30 minutes at a time, and there is less time spent with these offenders.

Offenders unsuccessfully removed from evidence-based programs: Offenders are unsuccessfully discharged from programs because of their behavior. Many youths do not attend, which causes dismissal. Often, families are not working with the programs due to inconsistent participation.

Parental involvement: Parents are not involved with gang-involved youth, and there should be a mandate to get parents involved. Parents are not involved because of financial challenges, stability problems, and having employment that prevents them from being involved. Parents cannot afford to lose their jobs. Instead of participating in services for their child, they believe they do not have to be a parent at that time. Parental involvement must occur for programs to work, and parents should be held accountable. Often, gang involved youth come from single-parent households with multiple children. Their parents work nontraditional hours or jobs that interfere with their participation in evidence-based programs. Parents do not support them or take them to services. Parents need to be fully active in the process to avoid a disconnect. Without parental involvement, youth become parentified and must take on adult responsibilities. When parents are asked to participate, they become offended and advise that they are not on probation. Parents feel the programs interfere with their daily lives. A lack of parental involvement leads to criminogenic behavior.

Probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs: Evidencebased programs can reduce recidivism rates with proper funding and resources. The programs succeed when there is accountability for the youth and the parent. Evidencebased programs help these gang-involved youth see a different way of life, teach them productive ways to use their time, assist with traumas, provide coping mechanisms, and provide an outlet to keep them from their gang-involved peers. The juvenile code has shown effectiveness with evidence-based programs because it has been shown to reduce recidivism rates since 2014. Juveniles with no evidence-based programing are more likely to reoffend than those involved in an evidence-based program.

Probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs: Evidencebased programs are not based on individuality. Some of these evidence-based programs are not set up to help individuals but to collect data. There are inconsistencies in many of these programs; they do not target these gang-involved youth and their behaviors. Many programs pick which youth they want to work with. Often, they do not want to service gang offenders because the programs are resistant to dealing with this population. Evidence-based programs are a good initiative but are not well put together. When these youth are referred to programs, it forces probation officers to identify youth who were never looked at before negatively. Evidence-based providers demonstrate a lack of empathy and positive relationship building. Many providers do not want to change, and they do not want to meet these youth where they are. These programs are not geared toward families who need them and are not geared toward juvenile gang members. When placed in these programs, they are not given a chance, and by the time they experience a setback, they are being removed.

Probation officers' negative thoughts of community placement: In working with juvenile gang youth, when they are moved from the home to attend a program they are placed back into the same environment, and the problems that occurred before happens over again like a repeated cycle and they make the same negative life choices.

Positive parental support: Gang-involved youth who have the support of their parent have been successful. Parental support plays a huge part in gang members' success. Parental support is critical to fulfilling their sense of belonging and acceptance.

Poverty is the norm for juvenile gang members: Poverty does not affect juvenile gang members because it is the norm. Additionally, poverty does not interfere with evidence-based programs because juvenile gang members are born and raised in low socioeconomic areas.

Programs do not have tolerance for gang involved youth: gang involved youth are excluded from programs because they are in a gang or services are discontinued when they make minor mistakes. Often, programs do not have the patience to deal with the caliber of youth in metro Atlanta, however, if they did it would help with reducing recidivism rates.

Resources needed to decrease recidivism: Resources dedicated for juvenile gang members to be effective. It is essential to look at things that were cut out to see what worked, such as proper funding, mental health services, family support, and mentoring services to assist youth with better life choices. Additionally, there should be positive peer selection groups.

The need to keep offenders from committing crimes: When meeting juvenile offender needs, it is essential to keep them from gang-involved peers or committing additional offenses. Any professional (counselor, therapist, etc.) meeting these youths needs to have a license. Meeting these youths needs not only targets the youth but the family as well. It is necessary to target their needs first and eliminate any distractions that may come about, i.e., completing referrals that fit the needs of each offender. Target their needs specifically.

Ways to communicate with juvenile gang members: To communicate with juvenile gang members, a person must be honest and genuine, relate to them, and be personable. They should get to know the juvenile and meet them on their level. To be the right mentor or counselor, they must provide engagement, and active participation, build a rapport and establish a relationship. Providers must continuously seek the youth even when they make mistakes, so they know the program has their best interest at heart.

Figure 1

Themes

Elements that reduce recidivism

Theme 1

Having a positive mindset improves effective strategies with evidence-based programs when there are positive support systems and proper

Theme 2 Effective communication increases the effectiveness of evidence-based programs and reduce recidivism rates

Elements that increase recidivism Theme 3 **Financial barriers** can impact a youth's ability to succeed in Evidence-Based Programs Theme 4 Barriers that result in ineffective strategies to reduce recidivism for gang involved youth Theme 5 Reasons that increase recidivism and take juvenile gang members down a path to prison

As outlined in Chapter 3, the data analysis plan included credibility,

transferability, confirmability, and dependability. As I completed the interviews, the

importance of each became more evident. The following section will describe how juvenile probation officers' trustworthiness was found in each component during data collection.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

As outlined in Chapter 3, interviews must be conducted with individuals who are knowledgeable about the study through firsthand experience (Rubin and Rubin, 2012). As mentioned, I selected probation officers with three years or more of experience in the field. Participants had tremendous experience, with the most being 24 years. Each juvenile probation officer was very knowledgeable about gang-involved youth and brought their perspectives on the questions provided. There were similar opinions on each question, and everyone was in agreeance with the most grounded segments: *parental involvement, lack of resources increases recidivism, probation officer positive thoughts of evidence-based programs, low socioeconomic status, and probation officers' negative thoughts of evidence-based programs.*

Transferability

Transferability is the degree which the sample population reflects a sizable or significant population (Olateru-Olagbegi, 2020). Before the data collection process began, it was evident that most of the gang population was in inner city Atlanta counties. Therefore, the invitation specified that the selected participants should be juvenile probation officers who reside and are employed in inner city Atlanta. The thought process before the interviews was this group have more knowledge and experience about juvenile gangs in inner city Atlanta since they deal with this demographic continuously. Also, they were aware of the socio-economic status of this population. The participants brought knowledge and experience to their interviews. Additionally, many were aware of this demographic's low socio-economic status with limited resources. The sample consisted of 10 participants, although data saturation occurred before the 10th interview.

Confirmability

As outlined by Christenbery (2017), confirmability is the findings described and shaped by the respondents and not by the researcher's bias, motivations, or interests. After gathering the participants, providing the interview schedule and consent form, and setting up a date and a time, the interviews were conducted through Zoom. All interviews were recorded. When the interviews were conducted, I introduced myself, readvised each participant of their rights, and explained that all information would be confidential. As the participants provided their perspectives, I listed and took notes to aid interpretation. The interviews were interrupted when more clarification was needed on specific questions. Although I have 10 years of experience in juvenile probation, there were no leading questions or biases. All participants answered the questions thoroughly and from their perspectives.

Dependability

Dependability is the replicability and repeatability of the findings are consistent (Christenbery, 2017). From all aspects of the interviews, similarities appeared when talking about parental involvement, resources, residing in low socioeconomic status, changing their mindset, punitive measures, probation officers' positive and negative thoughts about evidence-based programs, and Georgia's get-tough policy. Much of the information became repetitive quickly because their perspectives were similar. New insights came with a few answers. However, this study showed evidence of similarities with the juvenile probation officers. Most of the responses were consistent among the ten participants.

Results

The research question used to guide this study was: How do juvenile probation officers perceive the effectiveness of evidence-based programs in reducing recidivism rates for African American men ages 12-21 who are gang involved in the state of Georgia? Five themes emerged while analyzing the data. Those five themes are: (a) having a positive mindset improves effective strategies with evidence-based programs when there are positive support systems and proper resources for gang-involved youth; (b) effective communication increases evidence-based programs' effectiveness and reduces recidivism rates; (c) financial barriers can impact a youth's ability to succeed in evidence-based programs; (d) barriers that result in ineffective strategies to reduce recidivism rates for gang-involved youth; (e) reasons that increase recidivism and take juvenile gang members down a path to prison.

Theme 1

Theme 1 was identified as having a positive mindset improves effective strategies with evidence-based programs when there are positive support systems and proper resources for gang-involved youth. There was a total of seven codes grounded in Theme 1. The codes were: years of experience, positive parental support, education support enhances growth and success, diversity can improve communication, the need to keep offenders from committing crimes, communication to address barriers, resources needed to decrease recidivism, and probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs with proper resources. The two most grounded codes for this theme were probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs with the proper resources and years of experience. There were seven out of ten participants and 18 grounded segments for probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs with proper resources, and 10 participants and 11 grounded segments for years of experience based on the participant's responses. Both codes enhanced evidence-based programs when there were positive support systems for gang-involved youth. Evidencebased programs are interventions put in place for juvenile offenders. However, having the proper resources could affect the implementation of these programs. The participants advised that evidence-based programs are effective, and they do reduce recidivism rates with proper funding. P7 stated, "In my experience, evidence-based programs reduce recidivism when they have the proper funding and support to service the gang-involved population. When a juvenile does not receive evidence-based programming, they are more likely to re-offend than those who do."

When probation officers have positive thoughts about evidence-based programs, it changes how they implement them. According to Ingel et al., (2022), "Juvenile probation officers' perceptions about the validity of evidence-based programs affects their use of evidence-based programs (p. 976). These programs assist with traumas and provide coping and, if properly funded, could reduce recidivism rates for this population of offenders. P7 further stated, "I find the programs to be effective. Evidence-based programs have shown that if properly funded and supported by all stakeholders, it will likely reduce recidivism rates and provide the youth with an outlet to keep them away from their gang-involved peers."

The 7 participants in the study agreed that when probation officers have a positive mindset about evidence-based programs with the proper resources, they are effective, increasing success. The code years of experience focused on how much knowledge and expertise each probation officer had in the field. P1 stated, "I have 9 or 10 years in this field," and P7 stated, "I have 10 years of experience." Exploring the years of experience of each juvenile probation officer provided an understanding how this plays a vital role in the effectiveness of evidence-based programs in reducing recidivism. P1 perceived that based on the years of experience, it determined how engaged probation officers were with putting services in place for these youth. P1 stated, "Seasonal probation officers are more devoted to helping find the evidence-based programs." P1 believed that the more years of experience the juvenile probation officers had, the more willing they were to help youth find evidence-based programs to be successful.

Based on the most grounded codes in Theme 1, years of experience and probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs with proper resources, participants perceived that more years of experience dictated how willing they were to put evidence-based programs in place for gang-involved youth. Furthermore, with probation officers' thoughts of evidence-based programs with proper resources, evidencebased programs are considered interventions/strategies for juvenile offenders; however, without proper resources, it could affect the implementation of services. Per the participants, evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates with proper funding; however, when probation officers have a positive mindset about evidence-based programs, it changes how these programs are implemented and the validity of their use.

Theme 2

Theme 2 was identified as: effective communication increases the effectiveness of evidence-based programs and reduces recidivism rates. There were three codes in Theme 2: Effective case management, ways to communicate with juvenile gang members, and holding juvenile offenders accountable. The code that was most grounded in this theme was holding juveniles accountable. There were 5 out of 10 participants and eight grounded segments. This code specified that rehabilitation services should be provided; however, juvenile offenders should be held accountable for not participating in services. P6 stated, "Honestly, lately, the things that these kids been doing, you have to have balance, meaning programs and holding them accountable." Troutman (2018) suggested that adolescents cannot foresee the consequences of their actions (p. 204). Often, these gang members make quick decisions and not rational choices. The participants suggested that evidence-based programs should be provided, but when there is no compliance, the youth should be held accountable, and there should be consistency across the board. Accountability does not always mean detention or lock up. The participants advised that accountability should come from the parent, probation officer, and the evidence-based program when they are not complying. P1 stated, "Accountability should come from the probation officer in order for them to be successful." As probation officers, holding these

juveniles accountable to some degree when they are not compliant with evidence-based programs is an avenue to success and stimulates helping them to take accountability for their actions and make changes to improve their behavior.

The code ways to communicate with a juvenile gang member is significant for this research, although this code was not one of the most grounded codes in the study. When juvenile offenders feel that the individual working with them is genuine, they tend to be more compliant. P7 stated, "In my experience, most youth who see that the program is there for them through any barriers are more likely to comply and complete the program than when they see that the program is only there to collect a check." Additionally, P1 stated, "in working with juvenile gang members, you have to be real, and you have to be personable."

Communication is an essential factor when communicating with juvenile offenders. They work with you when they see that you are working with them and helping them succeed. Meeting these individuals where they are and not where they should be is essential for probation officers or service providers. Communicating with juvenile offenders requires being able to relate to them. P4 stated, "To be the right mentor and counselor, they must provide engagement, active participation, involvement, build a rapport, and establish a relationship. Also exposing them to a different lifestyle." Communicating with a juvenile gang member is essential to building a relationship with them. Establishing a rapport and gaining trust is essential to youth being successful. The participants shared similar characteristics with, stating that being relatable, being involved, and seeing that people are working with them builds communication and trust. In summary, holding juveniles accountable comes from the parent, probation officer, and the program. Holding juvenile offenders accountable to some degree should be distinct from detention or lockup. Some accountability measures increase success by making them consider their actions to reduce recidivism. Communication increases the effectiveness of evidence-based programs because there is an equal balance. Often, these youth make quick decisions and do not think about the consequences of their actions. As the participants suggested, evidence-based programs should be provided, but these youth should be held accountable with the assurance of communication and consistency.

Theme 3

Theme 3 was identified as: financial barriers can impact a youth's ability to succeed in evidence-based programs. There was a total of 3 codes in Theme 3. The codes were: low socioeconomic status, lack of resources increases recidivism, and assessment and classification. The code that was most grounded in this theme was lack of resources increases recidivism. There were 8 out of 10 participants and 21 grounded segments for this code. This code analyzes juvenile gang offenders residing in low economic environments and lacking the resources necessary to succeed. Because they do not have proper resources, it increases recidivism rates. P1 stated, "I feel like probation officers have a hard time finding resources, and they often have to google resources." The probation officers shared similarities by advising that transportation was one of the lack of resources and that these juveniles could not get to the programs. Additionally, with a lack of resources, they have free time, and resources such as extracurricular activities and services that once existed have been removed, increasing recidivism rates. P2 stated,

"Due to the lack of resources, the crime rates have increased significantly, especially amongst documented gang members." In addition to P2, P8 stated,

More resources would be more helpful because there are not enough, and many of these youth spend so much time waiting for a vacancy for the available programs. Some must wait months to get into an evidence-based program or assistance. The government is not giving enough grants/money to fund programs. While these juveniles wait for a program, they get into trouble. Also, more people should be hired to assist this demographic.

The second most grounded code in Theme 3 was low socioeconomic status. There were 8 participants and 17 grounded segments. This code is vital to this study because many of these youth live in poverty-stricken areas in metro Atlanta counties and face low socioeconomic barriers. P7 stated, "The majority of gang-involved youth come from a low socioeconomic background, leading to their criminal behavior to meet their daily necessities. Also, transportation to the programs is a barrier due to their economic status.

Many families that these juvenile gang members come from are impoverished and do not have daily necessities such as food, clothes, or transportation to school. Many of them must obtain their necessities their way, including committing crimes. Because of economic barriers, they are not interested in evidence-based programs. Poverty can be challenging, and financial barriers can play a significant part, causing a lack of participation in evidence-based programs and increased recidivism rates.

In summary, the most grounded code for Theme 3 was lack of resources increases recidivism. However, the low socioeconomic status code was also discussed because it is vital to this research. Gang involved juveniles reside in low economic environments and lack the resources to succeed. Resources that once existed have been removed, and recidivism rates have increased. Based on the participants' responses, the codes advised that resources should be assessable and affordable. Additionally, transportation is a critical factor as a resource, and enrolled juveniles do not make it to their scheduled appointments. Furthermore, juvenile gang members of low socioeconomic backgrounds play a crucial factor in the effectiveness of evidence-based programs. Many youths do not have the necessities they need, and poverty has been a challenge due to the lack of participate in evidence-based programs. Furthermore, recidivism continues to increase because of the lack of resources and low socioeconomics.

Theme 4

Theme 4 was identified as: ineffective strategies that increase recidivism rates for gang- involved youth. There was a total of seven codes in Theme 4. The codes are probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs; offenders unsuccessfully removed from an evidence-based program, poverty is the norm for juvenile gang members, demographics impact the success for evidence-based programs, tolerance for gang-involved youth, probation officers' negative thoughts of community placement, and barriers with identifying the problem. The code most grounded in Theme 4 was probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs. There were 7 out of 10 participants and 15 grounded segments for this code. Although probation

officers' place these youth in evidence-based programs, there are negative thoughts that were grounded in the data. P5 stated,

There is a lack of empathy and positive relationship building. Many providers are stringent and do not want to change. Many providers will not meet the youth where they are. The services are not geared toward families who need them. These programs are not tailored towards this demographic.

Furthermore, P1 stated, "Some programs' mindsets are not to help these individuals, but to collect numbers. Also, there is inconstancy." These 7 participants had a negative view of evidence-based programs. The officers commented similarly about evidence-based programs and how they are not targeted toward gang-involved youth. The program's effectiveness is not seen because everything is so stringent. Furthermore, when the youth do participate in services, those with similar offenses get to know one another and commit offenses together. Often, when probation officers make referrals to programs, they are forced to identify barely recognized juvenile offenders. For example, when completing a referral, there are questions giving probation officers' a different perspective about these juveniles, including their crimes, gang history/involvement, and drug history. Lastly, the participants believed the programs need to be better put together, which questions the effectiveness of evidence-based programs.

The most grounded code for Theme 4 was probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs. Although probation officers place youth in evidencebased programs, the groundedness supports that there are negative thoughts about these programs. Providers are unwilling to change and need to meet these juveniles on their level. The probation officers believed that they do not target the gang-involved youth demographic and that evidence-based programs must be better put together.

Theme 5

Theme 5 was identified as: factors that increase recidivism and take juvenile gang members down a path to prison. There was a total of six codes in Theme 5. The codes were: parental involvement, mindset can cause inability to be receptive to services, Georgia get-tough policy impacts the juvenile justice system, negative case management provides negative support, more punitive measures and not rehabilitation, and juveniles join gangs for a sense of belonging. There were 10 out of 10 participants and 43 grounded segments of text for parental involvement. Parental involvement affects the evidence-based process. Probation officers perceive that parents are not involved in the process, which is evident by the groundedness of the data. Often, they do not participate because they are single parents, have other children they must care for, and work fulltime jobs. Often, these programs do not fit the parent's lifestyle. P10 stated,

Many parents say they are not on probation, and they don't want to deal with evidence-based programs that probation officers put them in. Parents work, so they think that evidence-based programs are an interference with what they already have going on. Parents also have other children that they must take care of, so adding additional services these parents feel hinder them.

P8 further stated, "There is no support from the parent, and they are not interested." Often, parents feel that evidence-based programs put a strain on their life because of other obligations that they must deal with on a regular basis. There is no follow up from parents, and they do not assist these youth in changing their behavior. Often, parents are in a gang, too, and there is no reinforcement or accountability. The lack of parental involvement increases recidivism rates. P7 stated, "In my experience, gang-involved youth come from broken homes and have no parental support, which leads to their criminogenic behavior. Sometimes evidence-based programs and probation officers become a crutch for the parents to redirect gang behavior."

The participants advised that the most significant component is family involvement. Parents feel that they should not have to partake in these programs with their children because they are not on probation. The probation officers perceived that judges should issue mandatory court orders of participation for parents who do not participate. The problem starts from home, and if the parents do not participate, the programs will be less effective. P6 stated,

I do not see many parents participating. When they are asked to participate in programs, they feel they are being targeted rather than participating and encouraging the child. It's important to look at changes instead of participation. Instead of looking at why do I have to participate they could look at techniques. We need to find a way to encourage parents because we do not have a lot of parents by in/enrollment.

In summary, the most grounded code for Theme 5 was parental involvement. For juvenile gang members on probation, parental involvement is lacking. Often, parents are single, have full-time jobs and other children, and want to avoid participating. Parents believe that it interferes with what they have going on already. There is hardly any parental involvement, based on the responses from the participants. Without parental involvement, it increases recidivism rates. Often, parents put things off on the probation officer because of their unwillingness to participate. The participants believed there should be some redirection from the court to make parental involvement mandatory.

Five major themes emerged during data analysis to address the research question. The current research showed mixed perceptions that evidence-based programs could be effective with proper resources and effective communication. Effective communication enhances these youth's engagement, creating success and reducing recidivism rates. Additionally, probation officers with years of experience and a positive mindset about evidence-based programs are more likely to implement evidence-based programs to the clients on their caseloads. However, some of the probation officers perceived that evidence-based programs did not work because they were inconsistent, and the service providers did not meet the needs of the offenders. Despite the mixed perceptions of probation officers' and evidence-based programs, it can be concluded from the research that current and future probation officers need quality training on evidence-based programs and their material (Ingel et al., 2021). Although these youth are gang involved, when probation officers, parents, and service providers show them that they care, are honest, and are personable, it alters their mindset to make more rational decisions and reduce criminal gang involvement.

Based on the perceptions of the probation officers, when these youth do not participate in services, they must be held accountable. Accountability can come from the probation officer, programs, and parents to provide a consequence for their actions to make rational decisions. Even though juveniles should be held accountable, there are

75

mitigating circumstances and barriers that must be taken into consideration. The current study suggests that metro Atlanta is impoverished, and these youth and families have limited resources. The probation officers perceived that they needed more resources to succeed. Additionally, because of this barrier, probation officers' need more resources to assist them. Gang involved youth reside in low socioeconomic environments and do not have the daily necessities needed to carry out day-to-day functions such as food, clothes, and transportation. These factors can potentially increase recidivism and decrease the effectiveness of evidence-based programs.

Lastly, parental involvement, the most grounded code in the study, plays a significant factor in evidence-based programs. Without parental support, these youth could end up on a path to prison. The probation officers perceived that gang involved youth live in single-parent homes, and parents have full-time jobs and other children and do not want to participate in evidence-based programs with their gang-involved child. Further conclusions made are that parents believed that the program interferes with their jobs and what they have going on. Often, parents are in a gang too and do not assist with program participation or the youth changing their behavior. Uninvolved parents hinder the effectiveness of evidence-based programs due to a lack of participation. Furthermore, regarding accountability measures, the participants want to see changes from the court to enforce parental involvement. Currently, it lacks, and without parental involvement, recidivism rates have increased.

Chapter 5: Discussions, Recommendations, Conclusions

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative study was to provide a detailed analysis of juvenile probation officers' perceptions and whether they believe that evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates for gang-involved youth. The study findings provide valuable and credible information that may be used to address the effectiveness of evidence-based programs and recidivism rates among gang-involved youth. In Chapter 1, I highlighted the gap in the literature for this study and outlined the nature of the study, background, problem statement, purpose, research question, theoretical/conceptual framework, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitation, limitations, and significance of the study. In Chapter 2, I presented the theoretical/conceptual framework for the study, social disorganization theory and the general strain theory, and included a literature search strategy, theoretical foundation, literary progression, Georgia legislation history, juvenile court history/House Bill 242, domains of gang membership, and evidence-based programs. In Chapter 3, I presented the grounded theory used in this study as the conceptual framework for collecting the data and the research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, methodology, instrumentation, and the data analysis plan. In Chapter 4, I included a description of the participants, coding, theming, the setting, demographics, data analysis plan, code dictionary, and the results. The current chapter includes the interpretation of the findings, the study's limitations, recommendations, implications, suggestions for future scholars, and the conclusion.

Interpretation of the Findings

The main question that guided this study was the following:

RQ: How do juvenile probation officers perceive the effectiveness of evidencebased programs in reducing recidivism rates for African American men between ages 12 and 21 who are gang involved in the state of Georgia?

This research question was created to evaluate the effectiveness of evidence-based programming related to juvenile gang members. Howell (2019) suggested that continuous research on gangs has resulted in what works, in what communities, and under what circumstances. This research question emerged to see if juvenile probation officers believe these programs are effective for gang-involved youth and if they reduce recidivism rates for this demographic. Research has indicated that only 38% of gang-involved youth are service completers, compared to 78% of uninvolved youth (Howell, 2019, p. 638). However, some researchers have expected significant impacts from evidence-based programs.

Five themes emerged from analysis of the data in response to the research question: (a) having a positive mindset improves effective strategies with the evidencebased program when there are positive support systems and proper resources for ganginvolved youth; (b) effective communication increases the effectiveness of evidencebased programs and reduces recidivism rates; (c) financial barriers can impact a youth's ability to succeed in evidence-based programs; (d) barriers result in ineffective strategies to reduce recidivism for gang-involved youth; and (e) reasons that increase recidivism and take juvenile gang members down a path to prison. Now I will discuss the findings in the context of grounded theory.

Of the five themes that emerged from the data, eight codes were the most grounded in the study. Additionally, one code, ways to communicate with gang-involved youth, was added because I believe it affects the success of evidence-based programming. The codes participants cited as needing to be addressed include lack of parental involvement, lack of resources, low socioeconomic status, and probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs. However, the codes participants cited as strategies were probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs, years of experience, holding juveniles accountable, and ways to communicate with juvenile gang members. The code most grounded in this study was parental involvement.

Participants indicated that they perceive parents believe that evidence-based programs interfere with their lifestyles because they work full-time jobs and have other children. According to participants, many parents believe that because they are not on probation—their child is—they should not have to participate. The findings of this study demonstrate that lack of parental involvement is a major risk factor grounded in the effectiveness of evidence-based programs to reduce recidivism rates for gang-involved youth.

These findings support the literature suggesting that research on gangs and family indicate a lack of parenting and parental conflicts. These issues break down social bonding and increase delinquency and criminal activity (Carson, 2018). Additionally, studies have shown that a hostile family environment increases a juvenile's association with wanting to join a gang (Higginson et al., 2018). For juveniles, family plays a significant factor. Parental behavior influences a juvenile's life, particularly in making decisions. Having positive support from parents creates positive mental and social outcomes, but lack of parental involvement increases delinquency and a lack of coping skills (Mowen et al., 2018). In one U.S. study, more than half of parents expressed interest in an evidence-based program, but only 10% participated (Hill et al., 2021, p. 891). Further studies have shown low levels of engagement from parents with lower incomes, and among minority groups, parents with low self-efficacy provide low social support.

Jaggers et al. (2017) found consistency with the current findings by indicating that low socioeconomic and impoverished areas are significantly influenced and this demographic lacks resources. Jaggers et al. found that African American youth between ages 13 and 16 residing in neighborhoods with low socioeconomic status were positively correlated with delinquent behavior and exhibited higher levels of gang involvement (Jaggers et al., 2017, p. 32). Participants in the current study described low socioeconomic status as a risk factor that influences the effectiveness of evidence-based programming because many of these areas lack programming and funding, and access is limited. Juveniles and their families need the means to obtain needed resources. Participants described transportation as an economic barrier and a lack of a vital resource, and these youth lack the financial ability to gain necessities such as food and clothing. Connolly et al.'s (2017) findings were similar to the current findings: a lack of monetary abilities puts a strain on acquiring goods, decreases the ability to gain services, and increases criminal activity.

Furthermore, the findings align with previous research that low socioeconomic status has become the number-one issue in the United States regarding why youth join gangs. Higginson et al. (2018) suggested that living in deprived neighborhoods can affect a person's mental health and increase antisocial behavior, which could influence their decision to join a gang. With limited prosocial activities, these communities are poorly resourced, which results in blocked opportunities and limited resources.

Much of the research has revealed that gang involved youth grow up in low socioeconomic settings mostly in urban areas where they have more access to criminal gangs, guns, and a lack of supervision. The current findings indicate that metro Atlanta counties are considered urban or inner-city areas with mostly low socioeconomic or impoverished populations, and many resources are not available or accessible. Connolly (2017) found that more than 68% of male juveniles living in urban areas were more likely to become involved in delinquency than 38% of youth residing in rural areas (p. 235).

Ingel et al.'s (2021) findings were consistent with the current findings regarding probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs. Although the juvenile justice system has adopted evidence-based programs to increase success for the juvenile offender population, studies show that juvenile probation officers are not yielding toward placing these youth in those programs. Research shows that juvenile probation officers negatively perceive evidence-based programs (Ingel et al., 2021). The participants in the current study described a lack of empathy and unwillingness to change

across these programs; the programs are not geared toward the gang population. Ingel et al. (2021) indicated that practitioners need to consider which of their practices are salient for the context and population they serve. There is less recognition that these programs are successful when there are poor outcomes. Another factor to consider is a juvenile probation officer's training, education, and experience. The participants described that when probation officers have years of experience, they are more likely to place youth in evidence-based programs. Ingel et al. (2021) noted that juvenile probation officers might fail to incorporate evidence-based programming due to inadequate training and lack of understanding.

Participants cited strategies that increased the effectiveness of evidence-based programming: probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs, years of experience, holding juveniles accountable, and ways to communicate with juvenile offenders. The most grounded code was the probation officers' positive thoughts about evidence-based programs. The participants perceived that evidence-based programs does work in reducing recidivism rates. Findings suggest that evidence-based programs treat youth with problems of delinquency, drugs, and alcohol problems. evidence-based programs are used as a tool for success by reducing recidivism rates and improving youth functioning and development (Ingel et al., 2021). These findings are consistent with the participants' accounts, suggesting that evidence-based programs reduce recidivism rates. These programs assist with counseling by addressing traumas and providing coping mechanisms to steer youth from gang involvement. Also, it teaches a different way of life that juvenile gang members are not used to seeing.

Current findings suggested that juvenile probation officers' who have been in the field and are knowledgeable, with years of experience, were more likely to place youth in an evidence-based program. These findings were consistent with Ingel et al., (2021) in suggesting that attention to how officers understand evidence-based programs are understudied (Ingel et al., 2021). Most of the participants in the study ranged from 4 to 24 years of experience working with juvenile gangs. Additionally, the research found that when juvenile probation officers find these programs meaningful and having value, they are more willing to adopt and use them (Ingel et al., 2021).

The findings further indicated that when juveniles are held accountable, it creates success. Casey et al. (2016) suggested that there should be calls for greater accountability for youth by way of performance measurements and monitoring. The current findings suggest that juvenile offenders should have a balance, placing them in programs and holding them accountable when they do not participate. There is often no consistency, and there should be accountability for the parent, program, and probation officers when these youth do not abide by rules and regulations. Similar results were reported by Casey et al. (2016), who advised that accountability strives to ensure that policies and procedures are met, and evidence programs are practiced. It is important to take into consideration that outcomes from all practices should be measured. In addition to accountability, there must also be an establishment of communication with juvenile offenders. Research suggests that children build relationships and trust early on with primary caregivers, and as they get older social trust increases. However, low levels of trust have been identified with juvenile offenders (Aebi et al., 2022). Not only do they

demonstrate low levels of trust toward their probation officers, but there need to be more trusting relationships with their parents and service providers. The current study aligns with the research based on the participant's responses suggesting that although these youth have committed a crime, it is important to build rapport and trust to establish a relationship.

The results of the current study demonstrated that lack of parental involvement, lack of resources, low socioeconomic status, and probation officers' negative thoughts about evidence-based programs are ineffective strategies that can lead youth down a path to prison. Parental involvement, the most grounded code in the research, is supposed to be an anticipated support strategy for changing a youth's behavior. However, when there is a lack of parental involvement, there is less participation from the youth and parents, and the benefits nor effectiveness can be seen with evidence-based programming. With youth living in low socio-economic status or poverty, there are limited resources to reduce recidivism. Additionally, these youth are likely to commit offenses and join gangs. Most gang members residing in metro Atlanta live in poverty-stricken areas. When these youth are placed in evidence-based programs, they do not have adequate transportation to get to these programs, and many are dismissed. Furthermore, many of these youth must depend on getting their daily necessities (food and clothing) and are not interested in attending evidence-based programming. With these youth residing in low socio-economic areas, limited resources are provided (i.e., extracurricular activities and services).

84

Probation officers' play a vital role in the implementation of evidence-based programming. However, many of them have a negative perception because they believe that the programs are less effective and are unwilling to change their mindset and establish relationships with juvenile offenders. Furthermore, many service providers are stringent and do not want to change their mindset. Often, evidence-based providers do not meet these youth where they are, and the programs only target a specific area.

The results of the current study further demonstrated that there are positive strategies that increase the success of juvenile gang members. These strategies are probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs, holding juveniles accountable, and ways to communicate. Probation officers' positive thoughts of evidence-based programs are the most grounded in this study for positive strategies. Probation officers are critical to the juvenile justice system and implementing evidencebased programs. Participants cited that evidence-based programs have been known to reduce recidivism rates. They assist the youth with counseling and trauma and provide coping mechanisms to steer youth from gang activity. When probation officers' have a positive mindset about evidence-based programs, it increases the effectiveness of these programs because probation officers are placing more youth in services and following up with the providers. Additionally, when there is more knowledge and training on evidence-based programs, it increases program success as well.

According to the participants, holding juveniles accountable for their actions increases success and decreases recidivism. Participants suggest that although programs should be implemented, there should be an equal balance of holding juveniles

85

responsible when they do not participate. When holding youth accountable, there should also be an establishment of communication. Communication is the key to success: building rapport, relationships, and establishing trust.

Limitations of the Study

The study's limitations are weaknesses that are beyond this researcher's control. The study had several limitations that affected the outcome of the study. Qualitative research involves collecting and analyzing data to gain an interpretation of the analysis. The participant's *years of experience* range broadly from 4 to 24 years. Depending on the number of years in the field, there could have been different responses, altering the results and findings of the study. Therefore, the findings are uncertain. However, obtaining information from previous research and studies aided in assisting with this under-researched population.

A second limitation of this study was the participant's bias toward evidence-based program service providers. Based on their responses, some of the probation officers had negative perceptions of the service providers themselves. Many of the participants stated that the providers are set in their ways, they do not work with the gang population, are unwilling to meet these youth where they are, and so forth. This mentality has altered many of their mindsets, and they have challenged the effectiveness of evidence-based programs. Next, there may have been a weakness in the validity of the results. For instance, Corbin and Strauss Grounded theory approach provide strategies for data analysis (Chamaz & Thornberg, 2021). The participants could have withheld information

for fear that they could lose their job based on their responses. Therefore, they could have been more forthcoming with in-depth answers, which could have altered the study results.

As a probation officer, I have realized that there are few evidence-based programs in Metro Atlanta counties. Additionally, the available programs do not target the gang population. The available evidence-based programs can work, but they need to be evaluated to see how they can better target juvenile gang members and their families. Furthermore, I believe providers should attend training to assist juvenile gang members. Regarding juvenile probation officers, I believe that the available resources are scarce, and policymakers should provide more funds to implement more programs and assist juvenile offenders and their families in impoverished areas. Furthermore, if juvenile probation officers attended more training on evidence-based programs, they would be more aware of what programs offer and would not be hesitant to place the youth in an evidence-based program.

Recommendations

Based on the previous research and results from the study, it is essential for future research to explore the anatomy of evidence-based program daily to understand what it does and whom it serves (Ingel et al., 2021). It is also essential to explore the qualifications of evidence-based providers who work with specific youth demographics, including high-risk or gang-involved juveniles. Equipping juvenile probation officers with training about evidence-based programs is vital because how juvenile probation officers understand evidence-based programs and their effectiveness is understudied (Ingel et al., 2021). For example, because juvenile probation officers may encounter different experiences and biases toward service providers, future research should address where those beliefs originated. Adequate training may be reconstructed to ensure that more juvenile gang members are placed in evidence-based programs moving forward. Therefore, it would be beneficial if juvenile probation officers could improve their understanding of evidence-based programs to aid in better decision-making.

Future research should assess low socio-economic status more with ganginvolved youth and what society is doing to improve gang involved youth and families. What resources are beneficial? Of the resources that have been taken away, which were beneficial in the past? These avenues should be looked at because there is currently a lack of resources for juvenile probation officers to do their job effectively for gang youth to succeed, and to enhance evidence-based programs. Additionally, more studies need to be conducted on what evidence-based programs are effective for gang-involved youth.

Parental involvement has been the focal point of this research. Future research should be assessing parental involvement and how it hinders youth from being successful when parents are less involved in their child's life. Although many suggestions can be made about what effective parental involvement is and what parents should do to be more involved with their children, it is important to consider parents who will not participate no matter what. In situations like this, there is no definite solution. However, past research has tried to address parental involvement issues. According to Ripley-Mcneal & Cramer (2021), "Parenting not only prevents criminal behavior in youth but also cultivates a host of other desirable psychosocial outcomes later in life" (p. 103). One recommendation is to develop strategies to get the parents more involved with their

88

children and get them more involved in the process. Another recommendation is to educate parents on how their parenting styles can affect their children positively or negatively. Youth join gangs because of the lack of structure in the home with lack of parental involvement. Additionally, Kethineni et al. (2021) further recommended parent engagement programs that consist of workshops for problem-solving and building interpersonal communication skills with their child. As stated, teaching the parents about their parenting style, and connecting families to community resources could be beneficial for future purposes.

Implications

The current study generated evidence contributing to the effectiveness of evidence-based programs as perceived by juvenile probation officers. As outlined in Ingel et al., (2021), there could be additional training for probation officers to learn more about evidence-based programs and their material. Additionally, as it relates to parental involvement, the most grounded code in the study, has contributed to the effectiveness of evidence-based programs. Gang involved youth need structure from their parents, and parents are unwilling to participate in evidence-based programs with their children. More programs or resources could be implemented in the community to assist parents with being more active and involved in their child's life, whether through parenting classes, parental engagement courses, or learning parenting styles. Gang involved youth residing in low socioeconomic environments and having limited resources, additional programming and resources should be explored. Law and policymakers can look at adding more funds to fund more programs. Furthermore, implementing more programming and assistance to help impoverished families could reduce recidivism rates.

The findings of this study have contributed to the literature. Limited research has been conducted on juvenile probation officer perceptions of evidence-based programs and their effectiveness in Georgia. The study responds to Ingel et al., (2021) and Kethineni et al. (2021) recommendations to explore strategies to improve juvenile probation officers' perceptions of evidence-based programs and implement strategies to gain more parental participation. The findings of this study are unique because it sheds light on how juvenile probation officers feel about the evidence-based program. The findings could be brought to the attention of the juvenile justice system and court officials to reduce recidivism rates for the juvenile gang population in metro Atlanta counties. The Grounded theory was used to study the individual, and the larger societal process, which in this case were gangs and evidence-based programs in Georgia.

Law and policymakers can use this study to understand aspects that reduce or increase recidivism for gang-involved youth as they seek to develop strategies for future purposes. According to Tomkins et al., (2021), "In the public service domain, the rise of the evidence-based movement may be a response to several intersecting societal developments, including a decline in deference to government and a demand for greater accountability and openness in policy making and service delivery" (para 2). Strategies can be explored to improve how, what, and why evidence-based programs work for ganginvolved youth. Additionally, how can evidence-based programs affect people under what circumstances? When looking at ethical strategies in evaluating evidence-based programs, it lessens trial and error and possibly deliver a positive outcome to reduce recidivism rates.

Conclusion

This qualitative study aimed to gain the perceptions of juvenile probation officers and if they believed that evidence-based programs reduced recidivism rates for African American gang-involved youth in the state of Georgia. Findings from the study demonstrated that some juvenile probation officers believed that the programs were effective, and some did not. Mostly, all the probation officers agreed that parental involvement tremendously affects youth joining gangs and that these programs are ineffective due to the lack of parent participation. The findings indicated that many of these gang involved youth are living in low socioeconomic environments with limited resources. Additionally, it is all about communication with these youth. There could be positive outcomes if individuals show that they care (i.e., probation officers, parents, and evidence-based program providers). Future research should go in-depth and explore these areas more. Overall, establishing more training for probation officers and providers and introducing more programs, communication techniques, and resources for juvenile offenders could provide an effective strategy that may reduce recidivism rates for ganginvolved youth in Georgia.

References

Adams, C., & van Manen, M. A. (2017). Teaching phenomenological research and writing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 780–791. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317698960

Aebi, M., Haynes, M., Bessler, C., & Hasler, G. (2022). Associations of interpersonal trust with juvenile offending/conduct disorder, callous-unemotional traits, and criminal recidivism. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-11777-6

- Arnett, C. (2018, June 22). Virtual shackles: Electronic surveillance and the adultification of juvenile courts. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, *108*(3), 399.
- Babik, K. (2019). Youth & delinquency: An anthropological view of street gangs, early intervention & policy implications. University of Florida Journal of Law and Public Policy, 29(2), 237.
- Barbieri, N., Clipper, S. J., Narvey, C., Rude, A., Craig, J. M., & Piquero, N. L. (2019).
 Assessing general strain theory and measures of victimization, 2002–2018.
 Aggression and Violent Behavior, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.06.005
- Bluestein, G. (2020). Kemp to Georgia biz community: It's time to get tough on crime. *Atlanta Journal–Constitution*. https://www.ajc.com/politics/politics-blog/kempto-georgia-biz-community-its-time-to-get-tough-on-

crime/CGELNJFLLNEJTC7KDQSJGYHAFU/

Boxer, P., Docherty, M., Ostermann, M., Kubik, J., & Veysey, B. (2017). Effectiveness of multisystemic therapy for gang-involved youth offenders: One year follow-up

analysis of recidivism outcomes. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 73, 107–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.12.008

- Boxer, P., Duron, J. F., Williams-Butler, A., Mattson, P., & Algrim, K. (2022). Trauma and gang affiliation increase likelihood of committing assault among juveniles admitted to secure custody. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2022.2034635
- Bower, J. (2021). What if nothing works? On crime licenses, recidivism, and quality of life. *Virginia Law Review, 107*(5), 959.

Buchanan, M., & Krohn, M. D. (2020). Does it matter if those who matter don't mind?
Effects of gang versus delinquent peer group membership on labeling processes. *Criminology: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 58*(2), 280–306.
https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12237

- Bullock, A., Colvin, A. D., & Jackson, M. S. (2022). Zoom fatigue in the age of COVID-19. Journal of Social Work in the Global Community, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.5590/jswgc.2022.07.1.01
- Carson, D. C. (2018). Examining racial and ethnic variations in reasons for leaving a youth gang. *Journal of Developmental and Life-Course Criminology*, 4(4), 449–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40865-018-0091-z
- Cavanagh, C., Paruk, J., & Grisso, T. (2022). The developmental reform in juvenile justice: Its progress and vulnerability. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 28*(2), 151–166. https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000326

Charmaz, K., & Thornberg, R. (2021). The pursuit of quality in grounded theory.

Qualitative Research in Psychology, 18(3), 305–327.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1780357

- Christenbery, T. (2017). Standalone interviews do not equal qualitative research. *Nurse Author & Editor*, 27(4), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-4910.2017.tb00255.x
- Combs, N. (2020). Juvenile arrest and recidivism rate in Fulton County, Georgia (Order No. 28150304) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global (2451422315).
 https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/juvenile-arrest-recidivism-rate-

fulton-county/docview/2451422315/se-2

- Connolly, E. J., Lewis, R. H., & Boisvert, D. L. (2017). The effect of socioeconomic status on delinquency across urban and rural contexts. *Criminal Justice Review*, 42(3), 237–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0734016817724200</u>
- Consoli, S. (2021). Uncovering the hidden face of narrative analysis: A reflexive perspective through MAXQDA. System, 102, N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2021.10261
- Conway-Turner, J., Visconti, K., & Winsler, A. (2020). The role of gang involvement as a protective factor in the association between peer victimization and negative emotionality. *Youth & Society*, *52*(3), 469–489.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118x19869803

Copes, H., Beaton, B., Ayeni, D., Dabney, D., & Tewksbury, R. (2020). A content analysis of qualitative research published in top criminology and criminal justice journals from 2010 to 2019. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45(6), 1060. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-020-09540-6

- Dalia Al-Eisawi. (2022). A Design Framework for Novice Using Grounded Theory Methodology and Coding in Qualitative Research: Organizational Absorptive Capacity and Knowledge Management. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 21. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221113551
- Darnell, T. (2020, January 30). Gov. Kemp unveils bills toughening anti-gang laws in Georgia. Augustachronicle.com.

https://www.augustachronicle.com/story/news/2020/01/30/gov-kemp-unveilsbills-toughening-anti-gang-laws-in-georgia/1797526007/

- Denecke, K., Schmid, N., & Nüssli, S. (2022). Implementation of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in e-Mental Health Apps: Literature Review. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 24(3), e27791. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/27791</u>
- Elliott, D. S., Buckley, P. R., Gottfredson, D. C., Hawkins, J. D., & Tolan, P. H. (2020).
 Evidence-based juvenile justice programs and practices: A critical review.
 Criminology & Public Policy, 19(4), 1305–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12520
- Ely, J. W., Jr. (2019, March 1). The Supreme Court and Poverty Rights in the Progressive Era. Journal of Supreme Court History, 44(1), 53

Casey, S., & Day, A. (2016). Accountability in Juvenile Justice: A Framework to Assess Client Outcomes. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF OFFENDER THERAPY AND COMPARATIVE CRIMINOLOGY, 60(14), 1645–1668. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X15586767

- Connolly, E. J., Lewis, R. H., & Boisvert, D. L. (2017). The Effect of Socioeconomic Status on Delinquency Across Urban and Rural Contexts. Criminal Justice Review (Sage Publications), 42(3), 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734016817724200
- Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2020). Reviewing challenges and the future for qualitative interviewing. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 23(5), 581–592. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1766767</u>
- Elliott, D. S., Buckley, P. R., Gottfredson, D. C., Hawkins, J. D., & Tolan, P. H. (2020).
 Evidence-based juvenile justice programs and practices: A critical review.
 Criminology & Public Policy, 19(4), 1305–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12520
- Errol, Z., Madsen, J. B., & Moslehi, S. (2021). Social disorganization theory and crime in the advanced countries: Two centuries of evidence. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 191, 519–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2021.09.017
- Feld, B. C. (2019). The evolution of the juvenile court: race, politics, and the criminalizing of juvenile justice. New York University Press.
- Fletcher EC, Moore JL. Lived Experiences of Low-Income, African American Males in a High School STEAM Academy: Implications for School Counselors. Professional School Counseling. January 2021. doi:10.1177/2156759X211040030
- Frisby-Osman, S., & Wood, J. L. (2021). Is it merely a case of "mad and bad"? A case study approach to examining gang involvement qualitative psychology.

Qualitative Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000188

Department of Juvenile Justice (2011). Recidivism Report December 2011 with Fiscal Year 2009 Update. Djj.Georgia.gov.

http://djj.georgia.gov/document/document/fy2011-recidivism-report/download

- Gleason, C. K. (2019). Pre-Adjudication Access to Counsel for Juveniles. Emory Law Journal, 69(2), 359–396. Gottschalk, P. (2017). Maturity Levels for Outlaw Groups: The Case of Criminal Street Gangs. Deviant Behavior, 38(11), 1267–1278. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2016.1248713
- Rubin, H.J. & Rubin, I.S. (2012) Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data. 3RD Edition, Sage Publications, London
- Gottschalk, P. (2017). Maturity Levels for Outlaw Groups: The Case of Criminal Street Gangs. Deviant Behavior, 38(11), 1267–1278.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2016.1248713

- Greg Guest, Emily Namey, & Mario Chen. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, 15(5), e0232076. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Hays, D. G., & McKibben, W. B. (2021). Promoting Rigorous Research: Generalizability and Qualitative Research. Journal of Counseling & Development, 99(2), 178–188.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12Howell, J. C. (2018). What Works With Gangs: A Breakthrough. CRIMINOLOGY & PUBLIC POLICY, 17(4), 991–999.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.1

Howell, J. C. (2019). Youth gangs: Nationwide impacts of research on public policy.

American Journal of Criminal Justice : AJCJ, 44(4), 628-

644.doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12103-019-09485-

- Higginson, A., Benier, K., Shenderovich, Y., Bedford, L., Mazerolle, L., & Murray, J. (2018). Factors associated with youth gang membership in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 14(1), 1-128. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4073/csr.2018.11
- Hill, Z., Spiegel, M., Gennetian, L., Hamer, K.-A., Brotman, L., & Dawson-McClure, S. (2021). Behavioral Economics and Parent Participation in an Evidence-Based
 Parenting Program at Scale. Prevention Science: The Official Journal of the
 Society for Prevention Research, 22(7), 891–902. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-021-01249-0
- Hinsberger, M., Holtzhausen, L., Sommer, J., Kaminer, D., Elbert, T., Seedat, S., Wilker, S., Crombach, A., & Weierstall, R. (2017). Feasibility and effectiveness of narrative exposure therapy and cognitive behavioral therapy in a context of ongoing violence in South Africa. Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice and Policy, 9(3), 282–291. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000197
- Ingel, S. N., Davis, L. R., Rudest, D. S., Hartwell, T. N., Drazdowski, T. K., McCart, M. R., Chapman, J. E., Taxman, F. S., & Sheidow, A. J. (2021). Misunderstanding and sensemaking among juvenile probation officers working with evidence-based practices. Victims & Offenders. https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2021.1985670
- Jaggers, J. W., Tomek, S., Hooper, L. M., Malone, M. T., & Church II, W. T. (2017). Delinquency, Anger, and Parental Warmth: An Analysis of Youth who are

Minorities and Living in Extreme Poverty. Child Welfare, 95(6), 29–61.

Justia US Law (n.d.). 2010 Georgia Code TITLE 16 - CRIMES AND OFFENSES

CHAPTER 15 - STREET GANG TERRORISM AND PREVENTION § 16-15-4

- Participation in criminal gang activity prohibited. Law.Justia.com.

https://law.justia.com/codes/georgia/2010/title-16/chapter-15/16-15

4#:~:text=(a)%20It%20shall%20be%20unlawful,Section%2016%2D15%2D3

- Sesha Kethineni, Susan Frazier-Kouassi, Yuki Shigemoto, Wesley Jennings, Stephanie
 M. Cardwell, Alex R. Piquero, Kimberly Gay, & Dayanand Sundaravadivelu.
 (2021). PROTOCOL: Effectiveness of parent-engagement programs to reduce
 truancy and juvenile delinquency: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 17(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1189
- Korstjens, L., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical Guidance to Qualitative Research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and Publishing. European Journal of General Practice, 24, 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Lane, J., & Fox, K. A. (2020). Race and Ethnic Differences in Fear of Property, Personal, and Gang Victimization among People Involved in Crime: Testing the Effects of Perceived Neighborhood Characteristics. Victims & Offenders, 15(4), 395–417. https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2020.1737611
- Lee, M. J., Maranda, M. J., Magura, S., & Greenman II, G. (2022). References to Evidence-based Program Registry (EBPR) Websites for Behavioral Health in U.S. State Government Statutes and Regulations. Journal of Applied Social Sciences (19367244), 16(2), 442–458.

- Lei, M.-K., & Beach, S. R. H. (2020). Can We Uncouple Neighborhood Disadvantage and Delinquent Behaviors? An Experimental Test of Family Resilience Guided by the Social Disorganization Theory of Delinquent Behaviors. Family Process, 59(4), 1801–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12527
- Lenzi, M., Sharkey, J. D., Wroblewski, A., Furlong, M. J., & Santinello, M. (2019). Protecting youth from gang membership: Individual and school-level emotional competence. Journal of Community Psychology, 47(3), 563–578. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22138
- Luciani, M., Campbell, K., Tschirhart, H., Ausili, D., & Jack, S. M. (2019). How to Design a Qualitative Health Research Study. Part 1: Design and Purposeful Sampling Considerations. Professional Inferiorities, 72(2), 152–161.
- Magnat, V. (2018). A Traveling Ethnography of Voice in Qualitative Research. Cultural Studies Critical Methodologies, 18(6), 430–441. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532708617742407
- McGee, M. (2018). Georgia's gang situation 'getting worse,' investigators say. AJC.com. https://www.ajc.com/news/crime--law/georgia-gang-situation-getting-worseinvestigators-say/hf4OxArZ9YL8UaUQ9yP6jJ/
- Mendez L, Mozley MM, Kerig PK. Associations Among Trauma Exposure, Callous-Unemotionality, Race or Ethnicity, and Gang Involvement in Justice-Involved Youth. Criminal Justice and Behavior. 2020;47(4):457-469. doi:10.1177/0093854819897940

- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). Qualitative research in practice: examples for discussion and analysis (Second edition.).
- Merrin, G. J., Davis, J. P., Ingram, K. M., & Espelage, D. L. (2020). Examining socialecological correlates of youth gang entry among serious juvenile offenders: A survival analysis. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 90(5), 623–632. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000491
- Mitchell, M. M., Fahmy, C., Pyrooz, D. C., & Decker, S. H. (2017). Criminal Crews,
 Codes, and Contexts: Differences and Similarities across the Code of the Street,
 Convict Code, Street Gangs, and Prison Gangs. Deviant Behavior, 38(10), 1197–
 1222. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2016.1246028
- Mowen, T. J., & Boman, J. H. 4th. (2018). A Developmental Perspective on Reentry: Understanding the Causes and Consequences of Family Conflict and Peer
 Delinquency during Adolescence and Emerging Adulthood. Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 47(2), 275–289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0794-1
- Nunes, J. C., Ordanini, A., & Giambastiani, G. (2021). The Concept of Authenticity: What It Means to Consumers. Journal of Marketing, 85(4), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022242921997081
- Ohara, T., Matsuura, N., Hagiuda, N., & Wakasugi, N. (2020). The effects of correctional education on juvenile delinquents and the factors for their overall changes:
 Focusing on academic performance and family-type environment. Child & Family Social Work, 25(2), 401–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12696

Olateru-Olagbegi, A. (2020). Exploring juvenile delinquency recidivism in Fulton

County, Georgia (Order No. 27740458). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University; ProQuest One Academic. (2395262608). Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/exploring-juvenile-delinquencyrecidivism-fulton/docview/2395262608/se-2?accountid=14872

- Olver, M. E., Mundt, J. C., Hogan, N. R., Coupland, R. B. A., Eggert, J. E., Higgs, T., Lewis, K., Cortoni, F., Gordon, A., Morgan, P. J., & Wong, S. C. P. (2022).
 Assessing dynamic violence risk: Common language risk levels and recidivism rates for the Violence Risk Scale. Psychological Assessment, 34(6), 528–545. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0001116.supp (Supplemental)
- Patton, M. (2015) Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods. 4th Edition, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Petersen, R. (2006). The Seven Deadly Sins: Waiver of Juveniles to Adult Court.
 Conference Papers -- American Society of Criminology, 1Peterson, J. S. (2019).
 Presenting a qualitative study: A reviewer's perspective. Gifted Child Quarterly, 63(3), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986219844789
- Piscitelli, A. (2019). Spatial Regression of Juvenile Delinquency: Revisiting Shaw and McKay. International Journal of Criminal Justice Sciences, 14(2), 132–147. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3712655
- Pittman, S. M. (2021). Trouble with Treble Damages for Third Parties: The Georgia Street Gang Terrorism and Prevention Act. Mercer Law Review, 73(1), 365.
- Ripley-McNeil, E., & Cramer, K. M. (2021). Parental Involvement and Juvenile Delinquency. Michigan Academician, 48(1), 103–104.

- Russell, J., & Manske, E. (2017). Achieving juvenile justice reforms through decision.
 Making structures: The case of Georgia. Journal of Juvenile Justice, 6(1), 98-111.
 Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/achieving-juvenile-justice-reforms-through/docview/1916118913/se-2?accountid=14872
- Richard, K. (2020). Effects of laws, policies, and rehabilitation programs on African American male juvenile recidivism in southwest Georgia (Order No. 27739856).
 Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University. (2381678971).
 Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/effects-laws-policies-rehabilitation-programs-on/docview/2381678971/se-2?accountid=14872
- Ripley-McNeil, E., & Cramer, K. M. (2021). Parental Involvement and Juvenile Delinquency. Michigan Academician, 48(1), 103–104.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Russell, J., & Manske, E. (2017). Achieving juvenile justice reforms through decision.
 Making structures: The case of Georgia. *Journal of Juvenile Justice*, 6(1), 98-111.
 Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/achieving-juvenile-justice-reforms-through/docview/1916118913/se-2?accountid=14872
- Saldana, J. M. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Spooner, K., Pyrooz, D. C., Webb, V. J., & Fox, K. A. (2017). Recidivism among juveniles in a multi-component gang reentry program: Findings from a program evaluation in Harris County, Texas. Journal of Experimental Criminology, 13(2),

- Steele, P., Cheng, N., Phillips, L. J., Bryce, S., Alvarez-Jimenez, M., & Allott, K. (2021). Cognitive strengths in first episode psychosis: a thematic analysis of clinicians' perspectives. BMC Psychiatry, 21(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03627-y
- Tran, L. D., Rice, T. H., Ong, P. M., Banerjee, S., Liou, J., & Ponce, N. A. (2020). Impact of gentrification on adult mental health. Health Services Research, 55(3), 432–444. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13264
- Teske, S. (2020). Juvenile Justice Reform in Georgia: A Collective Decision-making Approach to De-Politicize Crime and Punishment. Georgia Law Review, 54(4), 1169–1212.
- Teijón-Alcalá, M., & Birkbeck, C. (2019). Victimization, Crime Propensity, and Deviance: A Multinational Test of General Strain Theory. Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 35(4), 410–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043986219870941
- Thaxton, S., & Agnew, R. (2018). When criminal coping is likely: An examination of conditioning effects in general strain theory. Journal of Quantitative Criminology, 34(4), 887–920. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10940-017-9358-5
- Thomas, K. J., & Mccuddy, T. (2020). Affinity, Affiliation, and Guilt: Examining Between- and Within-Person Variability in Delinquent Peer Influence. JQ: Justice Quarterly, 37(4), 715–738. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2019.1634752

Tomkins, L., & Bristow, A. (2023). Evidence-based practice and the ethics of care:

'What works' or 'what matters'? Human Relations, 76(1), 118–143.

https://doi.org/10.1177/00187267211044143

- Thornberry, T. P., Kearley, B., Gottfredson, D. C., Slothower, M. P., Devlin, D. N., & Fader, J. J. (2018). Reducing Crime Among Youth at Risk for Gang Involvement. Criminology & Public Policy, 17(4), 953–989. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12395
- Tuval-Mashiach, R. (2021). Is replication relevant for qualitative research? Qualitative Psychology, 8(3), 365–377. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000217
- Vermeulen, K. M., Jansen, D. E. M. C., Knorth, E. J., Buskens, E., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2017). Cost-effectiveness of multisystemic therapy versus usual treatment for young people with antisocial problems. Criminal Behavior & Mental Health, 27(1), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbm.1988
- Walker, D., & Cesar, G. T. (2020). Examining the "Gang Penalty" in the Juvenile Justice System: A Focal Concerns Perspective. Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice, 18(4), 315–336. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204020916238
- Walters, G. D. (2019). Gang influence: Mediating the gang–delinquency relationship with proactive criminal thinking. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 46(7), 1044– 1062. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854819831741
- Walters, G. D. (2020). Prosocial peers as risk, protective, and promotive factors for the prevention of delinquency and drug use. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 49(3), 618-630. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01058-3

Weeks, A. (2022). Culturally adapting evidence-based and informed practices to meet

client population needs and ensure appropriate allocation of scarce resources: A systematic review. Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 46(3), 238–263. https://doi.org/10.1080/23303131.2022.2033902

- Wheeler PhD, K. (Academic). (2021). What are the key stages of developing an interview guide? [Video]. SAGE Research Methods https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781529763133
- Yanney, K. O. (2022). Beyond the revolving door: Reducing the risks of recidivism so African American male youth not only survive but thrive (Order No. 29209049). Available from ProQuest One Academic. (2666489194). Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/beyond-revolving-door-reducingrisks-recidivism/docview/2666489194/se-2?accountid=14872
- Zavala, E., Spohn, R. E., & Alarid, L. F. (2019). Gender and Serious Youth Victimization: Assessing the Generality of Self-control, Differential Association, and Social Bonding Theories. Sociological Spectrum, 39(1), 53–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2019.1608341